
[image: image1.jpg]) SIC PERMANET

| _rocus | 4
Ontario

VT INCEPIT

2\




ONTARIO

ENERGY

BOARD

	FILE NO.:
	EB‑2005‑0001

EB-2005-0473


	

	VOLUME:

DATE:

BEFORE:
	2

August 16, 2005

Pamela Nowina

Paul Sommerville

Cynthia Chaplin
	Presiding Member

Member

Member


EB‑2005‑0001

EB-2005-0473

THE ONTARIO ENERGY BOARD

IN THE MATTER OF the Ontario Energy Board Act, 1998, S.O.1998, c.15, Schedule B;

AND IN THE MATTER OF an Application by Enbridge Gas Distribution Inc. for an Order or Orders approving or fixing just and reasonable rates and other charges for the sale, distribution, transmission and storage of gas commencing January 1, 2006.

Hearing held at 2300 Yonge Street,

25th Floor, West Hearing Room,

Toronto, Ontario, on Tuesday,

August 16, 2005, commencing at 9:00 a.m.

---------

Volume 2

---------

B E F O R E:

PAMELA NOWINA


PRESIDING MEMBER

PAUL SOMMERVILLE

MEMBER

CYNTHIA CHAPLIN

MEMBER

A P P E A R A N C E S

MICHAEL MILLAR


Board Counsel

RICHARD BATTISTA


Board Staff

COLIN SCHUCH



Board Staff

FRED CASS



Enbridge Gas Distribution

DENNIS O’LEARY

MURRAY KLIPPENSTEIN


Pollution Probe

ROBERT WARREN


Consumers Council of Canada

ALAN ROSS



TransCanada PipeLines

JOHN DE VELLIS


Vulnerable Energy Consumers






Coalition

JAY SHEPHERD



School Energy Coalition

BRIAN DINGWALL


Canadian Manufacturers &






Exporters, HVAC Coalition

PETER THOMPSON


Industrial Gas Users






Association

EVANGELIA KRIARIS


Direct Energy

ELIZABETH DEMARCO


Advocates For Fair and






Non-Discriminatory Access,






Superior Energy Management,






TransAlta Cogeneration LP,






TransAlta Energy Corp.,






TransCanada Energy Corp.

VALERIE YOUNG


Ontario Association of 






Physical Plant






Administrators

NOLA RUZYCKI



  Ontario Energy Savings Corp

TOM ADAMS




  Energy Probe

I N D E X   O F   P R O C E E D I N G S

Description







Page No.

Preliminary Matters





1

Enbridge Gas Distribution Inc. Panel 1; Resumed
6

Charleson, Small; Previously Sworn


Cross-examination by Ms. DeMarco

6


Cross-examination by Mr. Adams


17


Cross-examination by Mr. Millar


28


Re-examination by Mr. O’Leary


31


Examination by Mr. O’Leary


35


Cross-examination by Mr. De Vellis

55

Preliminary Matters





99

Enbridge Gas Distribution Inc. Panel 1; Resumed
100

Charleson, Small; Previously Sworn


Cross-examination by Mr. Thompson

100

Preliminary Matters





139

Enbridge Gas Distribution Inc. Panel 1; Resumed
143

Charleson, Small; Previously Sworn


Cross-examination by Ms. DeMarco

143

E X H I B I T S

Description







Page No.

EXHIBIT NO. K2.1:  TS UNWINDING COSTS FISCAL 2005

47

EXHIBIT NO. K2.2:  COMPENDIUM SERVED AND FILED ON

53

BEHALF OF VECC IN AID OF CROSS-EXAMINATION
EXHIBIT NO. K2.3:  UPDATED VERSIONS OF THE DOCUMENTS
55 CONTAINED AT TABS 8 AND 9 IN THE COMPENDIUM OF

DOCUMENTS SERVED AND FILED BY VECC (EXHIBIT K2.2)

EXHIBIT NO. K2.4:  SUMMARY OF QUALIFICATIONS AND

99

EXPERIENCE OF HLB DECISION ECONOMICS INC
EXHIBIT NO. K2.5:  EBRO492 REGARDING TRANSACTIONAL
100

SERVICES
EXHIBIT NO. K2.6:  RP-2003‑2003 REGARDING


101

TRANSACTIONAL SERVICES

EXHIBIT NO. K2.7:  BOARD FINAL ORDER, EB-2005-0244
142

EXHIBIT NO. K2.8:  SCHEDULE TO AGENCY AGREEMENT

142

EXHIBIT NO. K2.9:  AGENCY AGREEMENT



143
U N D E R T A K I N G S

Description







Page No.

NO UNDERTAKINGS ENTERED DURING THIS HEARING

Tuesday, August 16, 2005


‑‑‑ Upon commencing at 9:00 a.m.


MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.  Good morning, everyone.  The day is the second day of the hearing EB‑2005‑0001, submitted by Enbridge Gas Distribution Inc.  This morning we will continue with the issue of gas costs, transportation and storage.


Before we begin, I would like to ask for appearances for anyone who may not have been here yesterday and would like their names noted.  No.  We were all here yesterday.  That's fine.


Mr. O'Leary, do you have any preliminary matters?


MR. O'LEARY:  Not of a preliminary nature, no, Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. O'Leary.  Mr. Millar?


PRELIMINARY MATTERS:

MR. MILLAR:  There is one matter, Madam Chair.  You will recall yesterday one of the intervenors - I believe it was Mr. Shepherd, but I can't recall - asked about a hotline to which parties could call in if they weren't here during the day to find out what was up for the next day, essentially.  


I understand we did used to provide that service.  However, Mr. Battista has agreed to provide a very similar service, just by e‑mail at the end of the day, rather than a hotline to which people can call in.  So most of the intervenors should have noticed that such an e‑mail went out yesterday evening.  If anyone didn't receive it, maybe they could let us know just so we can make sure all the appropriate names are on the list, but essentially what Mr. Battista would be doing would be generally saying where we were in the hearing and what we were expecting for the next day.


So subject to any comments by the intervenors, I hope that addresses Mr. Shepherd's question, and that's what we'll be doing at the end of each day.


MS. NOWINA:  Any comments from the intervenors or Mr. O'Leary?  That's fine.  Just to comment on today's schedule, we will take a break somewhere around 10:30, so if the ‑‑ whoever is doing the questioning at that time can try to keep that in mind.  We'll have lunch at 12:00, and then try to schedule in an afternoon break as well, finishing up today at 4 o'clock.  And, with that, Mr. O'Leary, is your panel ready?


MR. O'LEARY:  Yes, they are, Madam Chair.  Just before we renew cross‑examination, we do have a response to one of the undertakings given to Mr. Ross yesterday, undertaking J1.1.


I'm going to ask Mr. Small to speak to it, but I should identify -- and I will pass this around.  Let me do that first.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


MR. O'LEARY:  Madam Chair, you will recall yesterday that the request was for the volumes that underpin a number of the contracts that Mr. Ross took the panel to yesterday in his cross‑examination.  This is an attempt to respond to that, in part.  Mr. Small will explain why you will note that for the years 1997 through 2000 those numbers aren't filled in.  


Our understanding is there's some difficulty in locating that information, and we're hoping that these best efforts will suffice and stand for the completion of the undertaking, but I ask Mr. Small to speak to it in a little greater detail.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


MR. SMALL:  Yes.  If you would turn to the second page, actually, of the undertaking, there is a map there, and we thought it would be helpful if we just outlined the various paths.  And we were talking about some of the receive points and delivery points yesterday.


So you can see that the ‑‑ at the bottom, you have the A&R southwest path that goes from Greensburg to Willow Run, the south-east path that goes from Uniset station up to Willow Run, and then the MichCon transportation from Willow Run to Columbus.  At the top, you can also see the Kalkaska delivery point, and then the MichCon transportation that goes down to the ANR link at Columbus, the ANR link that goes from Columbus to Corunna, and then the Natter-Link that goes from Karuna into Tecumseh.  


So on the table itself, unfortunately I don't have the information readily available for prior to 2001 of the breakdown of the purchases on the ANR south-east/south-west link, but you can see by the map that the volumes that are purchased and moved on those two paths then interconnect with the Willow Run and are moved on the MichCon.  


So I have just identified the total volume for those four years that have moved on the ANR two paths, and then identified the MichCon production that was purchased in each of those years from 1997, the Link pipeline in this service in November of '96.  So we went back to 1997.


MR. O'LEARY:  With that answer, Madam Chair, we were hoping that that would satisfy intervenors in respect of that undertaking.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. O'Leary.  Does anyone have a comment on that?


MR. ROSS:  Just having had a quick look at it, I believe that it does.  I mean, it appears to be a best efforts basis to answer the question.  So, yes.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Ross.


MS. DeMARCO:  Madam Chair, I'm wondering if I can ask a question regarding the second sentence on the first page of the undertaking.  It says:  Also to include MichCon and Enbridge contracts.  No undertakings entered during this hearing.  


Am I to understand that there were no -- specifically no undertakings in relation to MichCon and Enbridge contracts that were entered into?  I wonder if Mr. Small or Mr. O'Leary ‑‑


MR. SMALL:  My recollection is that we started off with one undertaking.  The first undertaking was to provide the information regarding the ANR south-east link ‑‑ ANR south-east path and the A&R south-west path, and then as we continued up the line, more things were being added to the undertaking.  


So my understanding was that we want to include the small path from Willow Run to Columbus for the MichCon, as well.  And I think -- I can only assume that the reason for the no undertaking is because we kept going back to that first undertaking and there might have been some confusion.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Battista, is that your understanding, as well?


MR. BATTISTA:  My understanding is that there weren't specific subsequent undertakings, so as more questions were being posed for follow-up, they were just added to the first undertaking.


I think the sentence, the "no" is sort of misleading in the second line.  It's just that the responses are here, but it's all under one undertaking, which is J.1, as opposed to a phantom J.3, .4, .5.


MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  That's helpful.


MR. ROSS:  Madam Chair, I do have one further question about this undertaking, and that is under column 1.  The figure in respect of the Michigan production, 66,358.2, one thing I'm not clear on:  Is that amounts on the Kalkaska contract, as I see it on page 2?


MR. SMALL:  That's right.  What we have identified as being the Michigan production would be those volumes that we would have bought and moved from Kalkaska down to the ANR link at Columbus.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. O'Leary.  With that are we ready to re-begin cross‑examination?


MR. O'LEARY:  Yes, Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  I understand from yesterday that Ms. DeMarco, Mr. Dingwall and Mr. Adams wish to cross‑examine this panel.  Is that still the case?


MR. DINGWALL:  No, that is not, Madam.  Subsequent to our summit meeting last night, I've had the opportunity to speak offline with the company regarding some questions and other intervenors, as well, and at this point would like to reserve my 15 minutes for another panel.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Dingwall.  So Ms. DeMarco and Mr. Adams, you will both be proceeding?


MR. ADAMS:  Yes.


MS. NOWINA:  Do you have a preferred order of proceeding?  Ms. DeMarco, do you want to go first?


ENBRIDGE GAS DISTRIBUTION INC. PANEL 1; RESUMED

Don Small; Previously Sworn

Dave Charleson; Previously Sworn

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS. DeMARCO:

MS. DeMARCO:  Please, thank you.  


MS. NOWINA:  Please proceed.


MS. DeMARCO:  I hope to be very brief.  Good morning, panel.  Welcome back.  I have two main areas to cross-examine you on, and I have to say that Mr. Warren has done the lion's share of my work yesterday.  


So the first area is examining the implications of the proposed storage and transportation contracts and related costs for all customers.


And the second area is to examine or clarify exactly what approvals are being sought by the company in relation to upstream transportation and storage contracts.


So, first, let me start with the implications of the proposed S&T, storage and transportation, contracts for all customers.  Is it fair to say that Exhibit A3, tab 2, schedule 1, in paragraph 19, which is found at pages 5 and 6 of that exhibit -- Have you got it turned up, Mr. Small?

MR. SMALL:  Yes, we do. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  All right.  Is it fair to say that that sets out the main transportation arrangements for the test year? 

     MR. SMALL:  That's correct.        

     MS. DeMARCO:  And would it also be fair to say that TCPL Interrogatory Number 3, which is found at Exhibit I, tab 23, schedule 3, sets out the company's specific -- I'm sorry.  Do you have it up now? 

     MR. SMALL:  Yes.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  Mr. Charleson, as well? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  Is it fair to say that that Interrogatory sets out the specific transportation contracts and the related contract expiry dates? 

     MR. SMALL:  The original response to that Interrogatory did include expiry dates.  When we updated to provide additional information, we did not do the expiry date, just to make sure. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  Right.  So the Interrogatory read, as a whole, including both the original and the update, would include all the specific -- all of the specific, relevant transportation contracts? 

     MR. SMALL:  That's correct.        

     MS. DeMARCO:  And the expiry of such contracts gives rise to the need for new or additional transportation arrangements, is that right? 

     MR. SMALL:  Well, potentially.  It's quite possible that they could just renew the existing contract, as well.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  So new arrangements, not necessarily new contracts.  Is that right? 

     MR. SMALL:  That's correct. 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  Some of the transportation capacity may be replaced by incremental spot purchases at Dawn, so, therefore, not requiring some of the transportation.  So, again, I think as we discussed yesterday, we'll look at the economics regarding what is the -- you know, does it make sense to renew a contract?  Or are the economics better to potentially just use spot purchases at Dawn to replace that capacity?  

     MS. DeMARCO:  So is it fair to say, then, Mr. Charleson, when we speak of arrangements, an alternative could be supply? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.   

     MS. DeMARCO:  And, based on the economics, you're trying for efficient alternatives or transportation arrangements. 

     MR. CHARLESON:  I think, as we indicated yesterday, that is definitely one of the key factors in any assessment we make on our -- on the transportation contract.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you.  As I understand it, a number of the contracts expire either in or before the test year.  Is that fair? 

     MR. SMALL:  I believe there's only one contract that expires prior to the commencement of the fiscal year, and then there is two contracts that expire during the fiscal year.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  And for budgeting purposes -- if I could ask you to turn to Exhibit D2, tab 1, schedule 1, that schedule sets out the costs associated with such transportation arrangements, that you're seeking approval for; is that correct? 

     MR. SMALL:  Sorry, can you just say the reference again?   Sorry.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  It would be D1, tab 2, schedule 1.  

     MR. SMALL:  Yes.  It identifies the annual transportation costs, yes.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  And am I correct in understanding your responses yesterday, that for budgeting purposes, EGD has estimated the associated costs with transportation arrangements that will need to be renewed, or new arrangements that will need to be entered into? 

     MR. SMALL:  For those contracts that had an expiry date during the test year, we assumed that they were renewed, and they were renewed at the existing parameters, demand levels and the applicable transportation tolls.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  So assumptions or estimates were made for budgeting purposes? 

     MR. SMALL:  That's fair.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  And it's fair to say that these costs will be borne, at least in part, by all customers? 

     MR. SMALL:  That's correct.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  So that would include system-gas customers? 

     MR. SMALL:  Yes.      

     MS. DeMARCO:  And that would be, if I understand it correctly, as part of the customer-based load-balancing fees that go into the PGVA? 

     MR. SMALL:  That's my understanding of the cost allocation, yes. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  And that would also include direct-purchase customers? 

     MR. SMALL:  They do bear a portion of those balancing costs, yes.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  And you've confirmed that that’s part of the load balancing? 

     MR. SMALL:  That's correct.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  Okay.  And then, also, both system-gas and direct-purchase customers as part of the distribution rates, as well? 

     MR. SMALL:  Yes.    

     MS. DeMARCO:  So is it fair to say, then, if these transportation costs increase, all customers would be impacted by the increase? 

     MR. SMALL:  That's fair.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  And the converse would also be true; is that right? 

     MR. SMALL:  That's correct.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  So, if transportation costs efficiencies are found, all customers might benefit from those efficiencies? 

     MR. SMALL:  To the extent that, if our gas cost was approved the way we filed it, if we entered into a contract that ended up being at a lower cost, those costs would go under the PGVA account and, through the disposition of the PGVA account, that would be disposed of to all customers, yes.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  And so would you agree with me, then, that these costs would be relevant to customers facing a significant increase in transportation-related costs? 

     MR. SMALL:  I guess I'm having a little difficulty with "significant", your phrase of being “significant cost increases”.  Maybe you could just elaborate a little bit. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  Certainly.  For example, in the context of the upstream-transportation-cost allocation changes, certain customers are facing a significant increase in upstream-transportation-related costs; do you agree? 

     MR. SMALL:  As we move towards aligning those load-balancing costs, or the transportation costs, so that they're even across all rate classes, is that what you're referring to? 

     MS. DeMARCO:  No.  I'm referring, specifically, to the settlement reached last year in relation to the

upstream-transportation-cost allocation changes.  

     MR. SMALL:  The cost-allocation changes of how the transportation costs are allocated, yes. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  That's right.  So certain customers, you would agree with me, would be facing a significant increase in transportation-related costs? 

     MR. SMALL:  As they realign the costs, it is possible, yes.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  Mr. Charleson, is it possible, or will certain customers be facing an increase in costs? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  There are certain customer classes, there are certain rate classes, that will be facing an increase in transportation costs.  Whether -- you know, to the extent people deem that as “significant” is open to __ is a matter of interpretation.  But, yes, increases will he occur. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  Would you agree with me that cost increases in the range of $1 million to $3 million a year are significant? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, I would.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you.  So these transportation costs would be relevant to customers facing increase in transportation-related costs; is that right? 

     MR. SMALL:  If they're of that magnitude, yes.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  And, certainly, efficiencies in the transportation-related costs could, in effect, mitigate some of the transportation-related increase; is that correct? 

     MR. SMALL:  That's correct.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  Further, would you agree with me that the cost consequences of any long-term transportation contracts would have to be allocated, going forward? 

     MR. SMALL:  Like -- 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  

     MR. SMALL:  -- like any other transportation costs, yes. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  And, to the extent that there was any attempt to unbundle rates, you would need to similarly allocate any new, transportation-related costs.  

     MR. SMALL:  I guess the question we're finding ourselves in is, it's possible, but until we get to that point, and how they design the rates and do the cost allocation, we can't say for sure.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  That's fair.

     I’ll now move on to my second area, which is just a quick follow-up from Mr. Warren's questions of yesterday.  And, specifically, Mr. Warren was asking you a series of questions regarding pre-approval of long-term contracts.  And, if I understand correctly, you indicated that you are supportive of the principle of Board pre-approval of long-term transportation storage and, possibly, supply contracts.  Do I have that right? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, you do.  We do support that.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  And, in fact, your response to TCPL's Interrogatory Number 7, which is found at Exhibit I, tab 23, schedule 1, in the last paragraph, page 1 -- do you have it? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, I do.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  You indicate that Enbridge Gas Distribution is encouraged by the Board's acknowledgement of a long-term contracting role for the utility and the possibility for pre-approval.


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, that's correct.


MS. DeMARCO:  Would it be fair to say that your support is, in part, because pre-approval allows EGD to decrease its regulatory risk?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, I would agree with that.


MS. DeMARCO:  And would that support also be, in part, because it increases the certainty associated with recovery of the related costs?


MR. CHARLESON:  For those specific contracts, yes, it would.


MS. DeMARCO:  Before those specific contracts are entered into; is that fair?


MR. CHARLESON:  It may not be before they're entered into, the contract may have been entered into, but we would expect to try to include some sort of conditions precedent based the regulatory approved, but we would expect only to be bringing forward to the Board a contract that's been entered into.  So it's a timing -- how the sequence flowed.


MS. DeMARCO:  And would that certainty be particularly relevant or important to the company when such contracts are with EGD's affiliates or related parties?


MR. CHARLESON:  I don't think the party that we're contracting with makes a difference in terms of how important that certainty is to us.  I think any long‑term contract that we would enter into, regardless of who that may be with, bears a certain amount of risk if there is not an opportunity to examine the prudence of that contract until cost consequences occur.


So I think the value of a pre-approval process is applicable to any contracts with any counterparty.


MS. DeMARCO:  So the decreased risk is relevant to decreasing the uncertainty associated with all contracts, including affiliate contracts or related-party contracts; is that fair?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.


MS. DeMARCO:  Would it also provide appropriate signals for additional new supply sources?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  It's our view that long‑term contracts are going to be required to attach new sources of supply to the market.  So the ability for utilities like Enbridge to enter in or to be able to enter into those types of arrangements or to take those types of contracts into the portfolio does assist, in our view, in attaching new sources of supply to the market.


MS. DeMARCO:  And would pre-approval also assist in potentially avoiding related costs?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, it would.


MS. DeMARCO:  Can I ask you to turn to Exhibit I, tab 24, Schedule 24, which is VECC Interrogatory No. 24?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, I have that.


MS. DeMARCO:  This interrogatory appears to pertain to a Union storage contract that is scheduled to expire in 2006; is that correct?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, that's correct.  Our existing arrangements with Union Gas will terminate at the end of March 2006.


MS. DeMARCO:  And as part of this application, are you seeking pre-approval of any new or renewed storage arrangement or contract?


MR. CHARLESON:  No, we are not.  At this time, within this application, we have assumed continuation of storage at cost‑base rates.  However, I think, as we've indicated in the evidence, we're looking at how we have to replace that contract.  It's unclear as to what the cost associated with the replacement may be or who the replacement of that storage capacity may be with.


And we still haven't formalized any arrangements, so we're not in a position to seek approval of any such contract right now.


MS. DeMARCO:  So just as a point of clarification, can you outline which, if any, long‑term storage, transportation or supply contracts the company is seeking pre-approval of as part of this application?


MR. CHARLESON:  There aren't any as part of this application.


MS. DeMARCO:  So there are no pre-approvals, either explicit or implicit, by way of budgeting that you are seeking approval of in this application?


MR. CHARLESON:  Not for long‑term contracts.  There are contracts obviously that we have in place.  There's contracts that we have renewed this year, for example -- the best example being our TransCanada capacity.  We've renewed a number of those contracts.  But, again, they're for a one-year basis, so I wouldn't classify those as long‑term, but I guess through the request for approval of the gas costs, we've implicitly requested approval of those renewals, just for clarity.


MS. DeMARCO:  "Those" meaning specific short‑term and the identified contracts that you've just spoken of?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, that is correct.


MS. DeMARCO:  There are no other implicit approvals that you are seeking for your budget?


MR. CHARLESON:  That's correct.


MS. DeMARCO:  Those are my questions.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Ms. DeMarco.  Ms. DeMarco, I may have missed it when you began your questioning.  Did you mention which of your clients you were speaking for in that questioning?


MS. DeMARCO:  No, Madam Chair, and I actually should have.  Thank you for picking that up.  Those questions were asked on behalf of TransAlta.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you very much.  Mr. Adams, are you ready to proceed?


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. ADAMS:

MR. ADAMS:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  My questions are on behalf of Energy Probe.  Mr. Charleson and Mr. Small, please feel free to pipe up, either of you.


I've got a couple of areas I want to address, and the first relates to a question of objectives and how prudence might be assessed, once we get around to that stage, when there are contracts available to review.


Mr. Charleson, you raised the point several times in your response to questions that cost minimization was one criteria, but there were two other criteria that you've mentioned.  One was the company's desire to maintain diversity of supply, and a second was a question of supporting development of needed infrastructure.  And it's those two that I want to address with you.


With regard to diversity, do you have a proposal as to how the Board ought to weigh this, if the company is coming forward for a prudence review and is making a claim with respect to diversity benefits?


MR. CHARLESON:  No, I don't have a proposal in terms of how that's best evaluated.


MR. ADAMS:  Now, in your response to questions from TransCanada, I think we established in the record that there is a surplus of capacity into the Ontario market at this time, and it appears to be quite a substantial surplus of pipeline capacity.


In light of that surplus of capacity, is it your view that the benefits of diversity are relevant really to the consideration of prudence?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, I do believe that to be the case.  I think one of the things that we talked about yesterday, when Mr. Ross was taking us through the ‑‑ that interrogatory from a previous proceeding, which I think was marked as Exhibit K1.6 yesterday, one of the things that they highlighted was one of the assumptions at that time was a TransCanada toll of $1.42. 


Through diversity of supply and competition, we've seen ‑‑ or we've seen increased efficiencies within TransCanada have led to significantly lower tolls.  So there is a benefit that we see arising from diversity.  Additional diversity could potentially lead to other such efficiencies or just helps to, I guess, provide more choices to the market, which we see as being in the best interests of the marketplace.


MR. ADAMS:  Again, in the context of Ontario having the benefit right now of surplus transportation capacity, you believe that even further pipeline access to Ontario would drive fat out of the transmission market somehow?


MR. CHARLESON:  I think, given the ‑‑ you have to look, as well, where that excess capacity exists.  There may be benefits to increased diversity of supply more the eastern end of the system.  It's my understanding that transportation capacity into the eastern part of the province, say the Enbridge EDA, is fairly constrained and there is no excess capacity available there.


So diversity of supply, say, through the introduction of LNG in eastern Canada, would provide an alternate supply path in, and help to mitigate the need to potentially expand the capacity to the EDA on the TransCanada system, and provide alternatives.  Whether that helps to drive additional efficiencies, we're not sure what additional fat there may be within the transportation company.  

     MR. ADAMS:  With respect to delivery at Dawn, do you see any risk that -- that customers may be saddled with UDC or other costs associated with unutilized capacity?  There are firm -- do you see any risk that firm shippers on existing pipeline routes could see higher pipeline charges related to unutilized capacity? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, that's definitely a risk.  And I think, again, going back to that table that we discussed with Mr. Ross yesterday, that was a factor that we -- that was an element we factored into our decision -- or our evaluation criteria around the Vector 3 contract, was the potential risk of higher TransCanada tolls, because of underutilized capacity.  

     MR. ADAMS:  So do you think this question of underutilized capacity, and its potential costs for customers served by Enbridge, are relevant matters to consider in the event of a prudence review with respect to Enbridge's pipeline contracting practices? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, I think it's a relevant point of consideration.  

     MR. ADAMS:  Thank you.  

     A number of times in your response to previous questions, and also in the -- I'm not sure what the proper term is, perhaps “negotiation” between some of the parties, particularly TransCanada and Enbridge with respect to the satisfaction of a number of interrogatories, particularly TransCanada units Number 2 and 3, it's my recollection - and certainly it's your evidence - that you, in this -- in your testimony, that the matter of confidentiality was a consideration arising in Enbridge's provision of information.  

     And I want to address this question of confidentiality and its relevance to this -- the matters in front of the Board right now.  

     Looking at the response to TransCanada Interrogatory Number 3, I take it you’d agree with me that almost all of the pipeline tolls that are presented there are presented on the basis of posted tolls, not on the basis of negotiated tolls.  

     MR. SMALL:  That's correct.   

     MR. ADAMS:  And specifically related to the items for renewal during the test period -- the test year and also in 2005, I take it you would agree with me that all of those items that are listed there are listed pursuant to posted tolls, not negotiated tolls.  

     MR. SMALL:  That's correct.  

     MR. ADAMS:  So, in light of the fact that these are all posted tolls, do you take the view that release of confidentiality -- or release of Enbridge's pipeline-contracting plans would somehow have a negative influence on the position of your customers with respect to the acquisition of pipeline rights? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  I still think, when it comes to our contract renewal plans, there are some concerns with identifying what our intentions are.  There is the potential that the replacement of some of that capacity may be capacity that you're able to acquire on the secondary market.  And back a couple of years ago, when we were -- when we had renewals on some of our EDA capacity, we were able to acquire some TCPL capacity on the secondary market at a discounted rate.  Laying out all your plans and expectations for renewal on various paths may limit your ability to try to pursue those opportunities.  

     MR. ADAMS:  I'm sensitive to that concern, Mr. Charleson, but isn't it also the case that, by laying out your plans, parties that may be in possession of rights that they’d be prepared to let go at prices better than they see identified in your plans might be in a position to come forward and do a deal with you?  Is that one potential outcome from disclosure of your plans in a process such as this, which is highly public? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  I guess there is that potential.  But, again, we're operating in the market on a regular basis.  So we tend to know the positions of many parties and what transport capacity they may have.  So I don't think we would rely on somebody having monitored our rate case to see what marketing opportunities they may have for some excess capacity.  I would see them looking to deal more directly with the company, and to enquire on that at the time when they had such capacity available.  

     MR. ADAMS:  Now, I will come back to this question of confidentiality in a moment.  

     With respect to ARC compliance -- and I appreciate the comments of the Chair, yesterday, with respect to a separate process with respect to ARC compliance.  I'm not seeking to make any determination or seek information specific to our compliance complaint.  I'm simply trying to appreciate the company's approach to dealing with the ARC relevant to these pipeline matters, if that's acceptable. 

     MS. NOWINA:  If you couldn't phrase your questions, Mr. Adams, so you're dealing with the principles represented in ARC, as opposed to referring specifically to it, that would make me more comfortable. 

     MR. ADAMS:  Yes.  Let me try this, and you can advise me if I've crossed the line.  

     I take it from your comments yesterday, Mr. Charleson, that if a pipeline contract is acquired in a secondary market, where the transaction is not directly with an affiliate, although the capacity acquired relates to an affiliated business unit, that it's your view that there is -- that the matters related to the ARC do not apply.  Is that a fair recap of your position? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  I don't believe so.  I don't recall the specific -- I recall the discussion, but I don't recall the specific wording that I used.  But I believe that I indicated at the time there was some uncertainty as to the applicability of the ARC in such a circumstance.  And I think that that is something that, obviously, as an organization, we would ensure that we had a clear understanding of our expectations around the ARC and the applicability of it.  And we would ensure that, to the degree that we believed compliance was required, we would be in compliance.  

     MR. ADAMS:  Since Enbridge affiliates are a major participant in the pipeline market that Enbridge is relying on, I'm coming back to this question of confidentiality and related to ARC compliance.  

     Can you appreciate sensitivity on behalf -- from the customer's side, that the pipeline contracting practices that may have an influence on the commercial position of your parent are matters that customers would seek to have a fairly comprehensive disclosure of information, and wish to pierce the veil of confidentiality that you've claimed around your contracting business plans.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  I think, as we indicated yesterday, when we were talking some ‑‑ a bit about the confidentiality, there are means of providing some of that information, means of providing information where it would not be disclosed to, say, parties that are in a competitive position or offering similar services, and that that was ‑‑ and that's something that we didn't see there being an issue with, if there were limits in terms of who that information was made available to.


MR. ADAMS:  With respect to the process for review, I note that in the transcript from yesterday, page 32, you're in a discussion with Mr. Warren.


MR. CHARLESON:  I'm sorry, Mr. Adams, but I don't have a copy of yesterday's transcript.


MR. ADAMS:  Okay.  I would be happy to provide it to you.  I'm sorry, I only have one copy.  I think I have a fairly simple point to make and I would be happy to take a break for Mr. O'Leary to review the transcript, if he feels necessary, after I have had a chance to ask my question.


MR. O'LEARY:  I'm more concerned the witness has a chance to review the transcript, but I see that the witness has only been provided with one page and I sometimes question whether one page is sufficient if you need to go back or forth.

     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. O'Leary, would you like to take our morning break now and give your witnesses an opportunity to look at the transcript?


MR. CHARLESON:  What's the question?


MR. ADAMS:  This is not going to be hard.


MR. CHARLESON:  I would say let's hear the question.


MS. NOWINA:  Let's hear the question, and then you may decide.


MR. ADAMS:  Mr. Warren was asking you about the process with respect to a prudence review, and the gist of your answer was that the consequences of ‑‑ the cost consequences of a pipeline contracting would appear in your gas costs to be reviewed at the next QRAM, or at the relevant QRAM interval, when the QRAM review occurred.


And here is the trouble I'm having with this.  The QRAM process was originally intended to be a streamlined process for a mechanical review of gas cost matters, and there have been complaints and concerns over the years about matters, business matters and policy matters, finding their way into the QRAM process and expanding the scope of those enquiries which were originally intended to be a form of light regulation.


And so my question is:  In light of the intention for the QRAM process, do you have any suggestions on how the process for prudence review ought to be applied in a QRAM proceeding?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, Mr. Adams, I definitely agree with your comments regarding the QRAM process and, you know, the expectation or the concerns that parties have expressed regarding, say, other actions or other initiatives being added into a QRAM application, and it's definitely something that we would not want to look, say, to frustrate the QRAM process by looking for added prudence reviews.


I think in our discussions yesterday and in this -- you know, when we talk about this transcript reference that you provided, when I talked about the final clearing - and it should be the PGVA, not the PGBA - for 2006, we would expect that to occur more through, say, a 2007 rate application.  So there would be a formal rate case is where we would be more inclined to have such a review conducted.


However, we did see, to the extent that it wasn't ‑‑ there wasn't any contentious issue, there may be the opportunity to deal with it through QRAM for matters of efficiency, but to the extent that it would lead to issues around a QRAM application, we would not look to try to advance that and extend the time frame required to do the processing in the normal QRAM application.


MR. ADAMS:  Thank you for that.  And one final question.  It was established clearly in the record yesterday that you have some major items of renewal, contract ‑‑ major contracts with significant cost consequences coming up for renewal October 31st.


I was just troubled by the proximity of that date to us right now in time and the company's position that it has not yet initiated analysis of its alternatives.


I was wondering if this is a routine practice, when ‑‑ and major business expenses are appearing in the near horizon.  Do you consider it appropriate to wait until just two months before the renewal date to initiate your analysis of specific alternatives?


MR. CHARLESON:  I guess my initial comment would be your characterization of these as being major and significant contracts.  


If we look at Exhibit D1, tab 2, schedule 1, we will see that the cost associated with the Link pipeline are about $1.2 million.  When we look at the total transportation cost, it's closer to $134 million.  So this constitutes around maybe between 1 and 2 percent of our total transportation portfolio.


So in terms of looking at our total transportation portfolio, the total transportation costs, while $1.2 million I would agree is a significant number, when you look at it on a percentage basis in the total portfolio managing, it is a relatively ‑‑ it is a smaller piece.


MR. ADAMS:  My concern ‑‑


[Technical difficulty]


MR. ADAMS:  My concern was not specifically with regard to the link, but the overall pathway, of which Link is a piece.  I can appreciate that MichCon-ANR are not up for renewal right now, but they are part of what feeds the link.  So the cost consequences of your Link decision have to be related to your plans with respect to much more significant items.


I take your point that Link costs are not in the scheme of things significant.


MR. CHARLESON:  And, again, I agree with that.  I think in our discussion with Mr. Thompson yesterday, we talked about a potential need to look at those other legs at the same time.  But, again, if we include the

ANR-MichCon transportation with the Link, we're still looking at $4.2 million out of the $134 million.  So while that does increase the percentage maybe to somewhere between 3 and 4 percent, it is still, when we're looking at the total transportation portfolio, not some of the more significant matters that we would be looking at.


MR. ADAMS:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Adams.  Mr. Millar, do you have any questions for the panel?


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. MILLAR:

MR. MILLAR:  Just one question, Madam Chair, and it is actually directed perhaps more to Mr. O'Leary.


At the beginning of ‑‑ during the examination in-chief by Mr. O'Leary, there was mention of an update to an interrogatory response, TCPL interrogatory.  I think as it 3, but I may have written down the wrong number.  And I was wondering if the company was planning on re-filing that interrogatory, the updated interrogatory.


MR. O'LEARY:  Are you referring to the one that was corrected?


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, that's right.


MR. SMALL:  I guess the difficulty we had was the original exhibit did have expiry dates on it.  

     MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  

     MR. SMALL:  When we updated that exhibit, the expiry dates were not on it, so I'm not so sure what we would do.  So the original one doesn't exist any more, I guess, is the difficulty I had in how we would try to update that.  So that's why we thought it would be best to make mention of it right from the outset.  

     MR. MILLAR:  I see.  

     MR. BATTISTA:  We just wanted to make sure that, I think it was one of the -- was it the -- one of the Vector contracts.  We had it down as coming due, and then, in reality, it was 2010 or something like that. 

     MR. SMALL:  That's correct.  What we refer to as Vector 3, expires October 31, 2010.  

     MR. BATTISTA:  We just wanted a piece of paper that’s in the record showing that correction.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  Madam Chair, we would be happy to re-file that, with the corrected date.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Ms. Chaplin raises the issue - and I think it is a real one - that the exhibit that had been replaced, the original one that is marked as "original", was referred to yesterday a fair amount.  And having been replaced, I assume that it's not officially in the record.  I'm wondering if we need that exhibit in the record, given the references that have been made to it.  

     Mr. Millar, any comments on that? 

     MR. MILLAR:  Well, I agree with you, Madam Chair, that it's something that's been referred to throughout the hearing, and we need -- we need a copy of it.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  Perhaps, Madam Chair, if we just re-filed it under the same exhibit and tab number, and indicate that the original has now been updated.  Because the references were all to the original exhibit number that it was given.  If we give it another exhibit number now, it is going to be somewhat confusing. 

     MS. NOWINA:  I think that would take care of it, if you could re-file it with the updated information and refer to it as "original."  

     MS. DeMARCO:  Madam Chair, just one quick comment on that.   The updated exhibit does not seem to make sense in the absence of the original, as it refers to specific line items in the original.  So it was our understanding that both the original and the update were in the record.  

     MR. ROSS:  If I may, Madam Chair, that was my understanding, as well.  And I referred to it in that context -- that they would both be required to take a look at certain issues. 

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Ross.  

     That was all of your questions, Mr. Millar? 

     MR. MILLAR:  Yes, thank you, Madam Chair.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. O'Leary, would you like to re-examine your panel? 

     MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  

RE-EXAMINATION BY MR. O'LEARY:  

     MR. O’LEARY:  Several questions.  

     May I take the panel to Exhibit D1, tab 2, schedule 1, which is the summary of gas-cost operations, the forecast for the test year.  Do you have that? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, we do.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  And you recall, yesterday, that Mr. Ross asked you a number of questions about the various tranches of the Vector pipeline.  And I have a question which is -- relates to the aggregate of those costs.  

     Is it correct that the forecast that has been included in this exhibit is based upon the anticipated actual costs -- transportation tolls in respect of the three tranches of the Vector pipeline? 

     MR. SMALL:  Yes.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  So the aggregate number of the three Vector pipelines would require no change?  The company stands by the filing as filed? 

     MR. SMALL:  That's correct.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you.  

     In respect of the -- you may recall, yesterday, that Mr. Ross circulated a copy of the July 1st, 2005, TransCanada recently approved tolls.  

     MR. SMALL:  Yes.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  And can you advise me whether the company is of the view that these tolls will be in effect during the test year? 

     MR. SMALL:  Subject to any further updates on TransCanada's tolls, that would be our expectation, yes.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  Do you believe that the rates that are included in that filing will be the same during the test year? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  It's our expectation that TransCanada would be looking to request tolls for its fiscal 2006, and it's our expectation that those tolls will be higher -- or we would expect that they would be higher than those tolls indicated in the schedule that was provided yesterday.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you.  

     And if I could take you back to the original, as-filed exhibit, which was Exhibit I, tab 23, schedule 3, page 1 of 1 - which was the exhibit that the company just agreed to correct - and you’ll recall that Mr. Ross asked you a number of questions about the various transportation contracts at line item 6.10.  

     Can you advise the Board as to what the company's expectations are in respect of the extent that any renewals of those contracts may extend out to, in terms of number of years?  

     MR. CHARLESON:  At this time it’s not -- we're not sure what contract terms may be offered by MichCon or ANR when it comes to renewing that capacity.  Our hope would be that we would be able to contract that capacity more on an annual basis.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  And if I take you then to line item 6.1, which refers to the TransCanada volumes, the first two lines indicate the expiry dates for those contracts, and the volumes which underpin them vary.  

     Can you advise whether or not any of those contracts may expire or come up for renewal during the test year.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  A large percentage of those contracts will.  All of the Empress to CDA capacity, so the 47,200 gigajoules will expire on October 31st of 2006.  

     For the capacity Empress to EDA, probably about 70 percent of that capacity will expire in, again, October 31st of 2006.   

     The remaining capacity has terms that extend out as far as October 31st, 2010.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  And are there occasions when a company enters into contracts of a monthly, seasonal or weekly basis? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, there are some -- we will enter into some short-term firm transportation contracts, and also interruptible transportation contracts, which are shorter in nature.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  And just as a ballpark, if you can, do you have an idea or an expectation, in the test year, of the total number of transportation contracts that the company might be involved in renewing or renegotiating or contracting in respect of? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  No, that’s difficult to project, because it will depend on our operating conditions at points in time, how we need to move gas and what the best mechanisms that can be used for moving that gas.   So, especially when you're looking at the shorter-term-type contracts, the number could fluctuate quite a bit.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you.  

     Finally, Miss DeMarco was asking you some questions about the potential impact on her client of additional cost of $1 to $2 million.  I wanted to ask you about the company’s position -- your position as to what is the driver of those potential impacts.  Is it any change in the transportation costs?  Or are there other drivers that are the cause of those additional costs which Miss DeMarco referred to? 

     MR. SMALL:  My understanding would be that the -- most of the cost drivers affecting Miss DeMarco's clients would be as a result of the cost-allocation changes that were put in place, I believe, last year.  And it's a phase-in of the change in the load-balancing component -- the transportation component within the load-balancing part of the rate.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  Madam Chair, those are our redirect.     

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. O'Leary.  

     The Panel doesn't have any questions, so I believe that completes the hearing of this issue.  

     Mr. O'Leary, we were to go on to transactional services next, with the same panel.  Do you wish to take a break, the morning break, at this point to allow your panel to prepare? 


MR. O'LEARY:  I would be happy to proceed with direct examination and perhaps that might take us close to the appointed hour; otherwise, we're in your hands.


MS. NOWINA:  That's fine, Mr. O'Leary.  Why don't we proceed?


EXAMINATION BY MR. O'LEARY:

MR. O'LEARY:  As the panel is sworn, I presume it won't be necessary to re-swear the panel.


The next issue Madam Chair is transactional services, and the pre-filed evidence is located at Exhibit A2, tab 5, schedule 1.  It appears as issues 3.1, 3.2 and 3.3 on the issues list.


May I ask, first of all, you, Mr. Small, if the transactional services evidence was prepared and any of the interrogatory responses was prepared by you, with your input and under your direction?


MR. SMALL:  Yes, they were.


MR. O'LEARY:  Do you adopt it for the purposes of your testimony?


MR. SMALL:  Yes, I do.


MR. O'LEARY:  And, Mr. Charleson, was the evidence that the company has filed and the responses to interrogatories prepared by you with your assistance or under your direction?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, it was.


MR. O'LEARY:  And you adopt it for the purposes of this proceeding?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, I do.


MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you.  First, Mr. Charleson, could I ask you to provide a description of the day‑to‑day activities that the employees at Enbridge Gas Distribution, that are engaged in transactional services, undertake on a day‑to‑day basis?  Can you give us kind of an overview of what is involved with the sale of surplus assets?


MR. CHARLESON:  The day‑to‑day activities related to transactional services are actually performed by Enbridge Gas Services employees under a service agreement with Enbridge Gas Distribution, and the activities that go on include, first, identifying the assets, the surplus assets, that would be available for transactional services.  And this is done by reviewing information that's provided by gas control, which will basically identify the requirements for the day.  It will identify how much transportation, how much gas is being moved, how much capacity is required.  It will also identify storage balances and storage capacity.


The employees will then also continually monitor market conditions so that they understand what's happening within the market and get a sense in terms of what value may be able to be received for those assets.


In doing so, they will field calls that they receive from various counter-parties that may be looking for certain assets, whether it be storage, transportation.  But, also, given their knowledge of what's happening within the market, they're also going to have an understanding of who is looking for what ‑‑ for certain types of assets, who is taking certain positions in the market.  And using that awareness, they will approach certain counter-parties to see if there is an interest in acquiring certain assets.


So to an extent, there is a bit of door-knocking that goes on trying to go out there, promote the assets, promote specific assets, talk with certain parties to try to, again, achieve what value they can for those assets, and that's really based on their knowledge of what's happening within the marketplace.


MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  Mr. Charleson, may I ask you:  What is your role in respect of the transactional service activities of the company?


MR. CHARLESON:  Well, I'm accountable for transactional services within Enbridge Gas Distribution, so I have responsibility for managing the service schedule with Enbridge Gas Services.  That includes the administration of transactional services, but I am also responsible for the repatriation of the services from Enbridge Gas Services that will be occurring as a result of the EB-2005‑0244 proceeding.


And following the repatriation, I will be responsible ‑‑ I will have direct management responsibility for the staff and the transactional services function.


MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you.  Turning to you, Mr. Small, may I ask you what your function is relative to transactional services?


MR. SMALL:  My primary role with respect to transactional services is to ensure that if there is any incremental gas costs or avoided gas costs, that they are recorded appropriately within gas costs and impact the transactional services revenue.


MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  And, Mr. Charleson, you indicated that -- as a result of the recent settlement which was reached in EB-2005‑0244, which was the TS proceeding, are there any other administrative changes that evolve or flow from that settlement which you wish to reference today?


MR. CHARLESON:  Well, obviously the most significant change arising from that settlement was the change in the reporting relationship and the repatriation.  However, another significant change is the manner in which the assets are going to be made available.


Given the methodology that is to be implemented, the company will no longer be pursuing counter-parties on specific deals.  Assets will be posted at specific times.  There will be a web site where, once assets are identified, they will be posted and counter-parties will then bid on those assets within the time frame specified within the methodology.


We will still have the opportunity for counter-parties to approach us, if they're interested in certain assets.  But it really changes, say, the way in which we have to manage the marketplace or the way that we raise awareness of transactional services opportunities.  


We won't be going out and approaching counter-parties on specific transactions or specific assets that are available.  They will have to rely on the auction process for counter-parties to become aware of and try to contract for those assets.


However, we will still need to ensure that there is awareness in the marketplace of our transactional services activities, in general, and try to ensure that there is interest on the part of counter-parties to use the auction process for securing assets.


MR. O'LEARY:  Issue 3.1, Mr. Charleson, is entitled "Gross Margin Forecast".  At Board Staff Interrogatory No. 40, the company said that it could only provide a, and I quote, "best guess", unquote, as to the anticipated TS revenues in the test year.


Can you advise the Panel why the company is only able to give a "best guess"?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  There's a number of factors that leave us in the position where it is difficult to really predict what we see in terms of our transactional services revenue or the gross margin forecast for 2006.


Within ‑‑ coming out of the 2005 rate case decision, the company was ordered to discontinue the bundling of commodity transactions or bundling of commodity with transactional services transactions.  We're still gaining experience in terms of the impact of losing those types of transactions on our gross margins.  


Also, the new transactional services methodology, which has been agreed to and that I just described, creates a great deal of uncertainty.  It is clear as to how counter-parties will respond to the change in the methodology, to the change in the approach, the degree of acceptance to using that type of approach, and then also how much we may ‑‑ how much it may be impacted by not, say, going out and pursuing counter-parties on specific transactions.


Also, within that settlement proposal there was commitments that were made to IGUA, and my guess to customers as a whole, in terms of the treatment for interruptible customers, which has the potential down the road of where we may be excluded from doing firm deals at points in time, if concerns regarding unwinding costs become an issue, and so satisfying that commitment and dealing with some potential future outcomes of that leads to uncertainty.


Also, on an annual basis, market conditions are always a huge variable, in terms of forecasting transactional services revenue, and I think the company, in general, has not provided an extensive forecast of transactional services revenue for a number of years because market conditions can change.  Value that you may get one year at a point in time may not be there the next year.  


Also, weather plays a huge factor, in terms of the value that you're able to achieve.  Delays in cold weather coming in will impact your ability to do storage transactions and the value you can get for those storage transactions.

Also, there is changes in offerings that we -- that are available from transportation companies.  TransCanada

-- there's been changes in this year with regards to the storage transportation service from TransCanada, which -- we're gaining experience this summer in terms of the implications of having to balance our injections and withdrawals under the storage transportation service.  And it changes the environment that we're having to operate in, and the types of deals we may have been able to do in the past, also the types of deals we may be able to do in the winter, as well.  

     And that's an example of a service-offering change that’s occurred this year, but there may be future changes.  TransCanada and other transportation companies continually look at the services they provide.  There's continual changes that are occurring, and you have to be able to adapt to those changes, and they may have impacts.  

     There is, also, the potential impact of natural-gas electricity generation.  While our evidence indicates that we don't see significant impacts as a result of this within the test year, as we look towards 2007, and beyond, it creates a great deal of uncertain uncertainty regarding how our assets may be required to support the needs of gas-fired generators, both within our franchise areas or elsewhere within the province, where it may reduce the assets that we have available for transactional services and, therefore, reduce our ability to generate revenue through transactional services.  

     Also, as we look towards a trend towards the unbundling of tolls, as you get -- as you unbundle further tolls, it changes the manner in which assets are held and being used.  You're now -- you may now be assigning certain assets or capacity under an unbundled rate to customers, for them to manage, which, again, reduces the pool of assets available for the company to manage.  

     So, again, it's a fairly lengthy list of elements that create uncertainty for us, and leaves us in a position where to try to project what the impacts of these may be, individually and collectively, is virtually impossible.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you, Mr. Charleson.  

     At Board -- the company's response to Board Staff Interrogatory No. 38, the company indicates that it forecasts 13.7 million in TS revenues for non-bundled TS activities for 2005.  So that's the figure that was filed, less the bundled portion.  

     Given the forecast for the 2005 company performance, why is the company best-guessing five to 8 million for the test year? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Again, I think, to an extent, this helps to highlight some of the uncertainty that we face, and how the market conditions can really drive some of the value that you're able to achieve.  

     This year, there's been a few market conditions that have come to bear that have provided some good opportunities for generating revenue.  In December, market conditions moved in a manner that provided us an opportunity to generate some significant revenue related to some storage transactions.  This -- in the coming year, a change in the weather, a change in the timing of when storage becomes available or other market elements could cause that opportunity to not be there.  

     Similarly, we've seen heading into the summer, transportation capacity has held value that we haven't seen in previous years.  It's -- and it's helping us to generate some significant revenue.  But again, that's what we're seeing in the market this year.  But that -- those opportunities may not exist next year.  It just shows some of the variability that can happen, depending on the market conditions at any point in time.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  I note from the company's evidence that it is not proposing that any transactional-services revenue be - and I use the term “baked” - into rates for the purposes of 2006.   Could you please explain why the company is not proposing to include any TS revenue in the 2006 rates, to reduce the revenue deficiency?  

     MR. CHARLESON:  Again, it's the uncertainties and, particularly, the risk of providing a guarantee to ratepayers of an amount in light of such uncertainties.  For us to include an amount in our -- in rates, essentially, provides a guarantee to ratepayers that we're going to be able to achieve that level of revenue.  

     And so -- and as we look at the risks that that introduces, to have provided such a guarantee may leave little incentive for the company -- or, say, upside potential from transactional services and incentive for the company, and put the company at risk of actually -- or the shareholder having to take a loss or, basically, eat some of that revenue.  

     For example, if we were looking at the existing sharing mechanism, where there is an 8 million guarantee, if we were only to achieve the low end of our best-guess estimate, the shareholder would end up having to absorb $3.8 million in costs.  

     If we were to -- even if we were just to assume, say, sharing, where the guarantee, say, $5 million or lower -- a lower guaranteed amount, again, there is still a risk that if the -- if you hit the low end of the forecast, that the shareholder is going to be at risk for taking a loss on doing an activity that provides a benefit to ratepayers.  And we don't see that as being reasonable or an equitable treatment.  

     And so, as a result, we believe it’s best to -- not to include any type of guarantee, given the uncertainties, recognizing that ratepayers will ultimately receive benefits from the transactional services.  It becomes a timing issue of when those benefits are received.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  And Mr. Charleson, have you done any calculations as to what would be the return -- the earnings that the shareholder would recover, in the event that the upper end of the best-guess is achieved, in terms of transactional-services revenues in 2006? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Again, a lot of that would depend on the manner in which the guarantee was identified.  If we were to look at a guarantee of -- you know, along historic lines, where, say, 75 percent of that -- of the top end of the best guess, the total shareholder -- say, the benefit to the shareholder would be one-half, 1.8 million, potentially.  But that's if everything -- you know, again, if you are able to achieve those numbers.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  And does the company have a view as to what level constitutes some sort of incentive or earnings-sharing mechanism or formula that it considers fair? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Well, within our evidence, given the uncertainty and the anticipated revenue -- TS revenue - which, again, is only a best guess - we think the size of financial incentive that would help to generate an amount that really provides a true financial incentive to the shareholder is looking at something where there would be a 50:50 split of the revenues.  

     So what we have proposed within our evidence is an equal sharing of the transactional-services revenue, after the recovery of the O&M -- or the operating costs associated with transactional services.  

     We see a 50:50 sharing as being something that’s not inconsistent with what's occurred in other jurisdictions.  It is a sharing mechanism that’s comparable to what occurs in other jurisdictions.  It's also comparable to what we've seen in Ontario for earnings-sharing, and, really, when we look at transactional-services revenue, it is a type of earnings.  So we see it, as well, as being consistent with some of the earnings-sharing formulas that have been used in recent years.  So it’s our view that a 50:50 split of these revenues is something that is fair and reasonable, given the degree of uncertainties.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  Mr. Charleson, you've indicated that the company is not proposing that any TS revenue be baked into rates for 2006.  What, then, happens to the revenues that actually are earned during the test year?  

     MR. CHARLESON:  The revenues that are earned during the test year or the ratepayer portion of the revenues that are earned during the test year would be recorded in the transactional services deferral account, and they would accrue interest throughout the course of the year, and then they would be returned to ratepayers at the time that that deferral account is disposed of.


So, in essence, the change, the removal of the ratepayer guarantee, leads to, say, a one‑year aberration of, let's say, the transactional services revenue.  Similar to when, say, a guarantee was initially included, there was in essence a double counting in that year when the guarantee was ‑‑ got embedded in rates.  Now with the removal of the guarantee, you lose that for the one year, but you end up -- they end up receiving it and getting it when the clearing of the deferral account occurs.


MR. O'LEARY:  Mr. Charleson, at page 31 of the settlement agreement which the Board recently approved, the wording that appears in the settlement agreement in respect of the 2005 transactional services deferral account reads as follows:

"Intervenors are waiting for a response from the company relating to entries made to this account for any transaction unwinding costs.  The allocation of responsibility for unwinding costs may become an issue if the amounts are material."


Do you have a response to that particular ‑‑


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, we do, and actually we have prepared just a small table that we think would be of assistance.


MR. BATTISTA:  We will give this exhibit Exhibit No. K2.1.


EXHIBIT NO. K2.1:  TS UNWINDING COSTS FISCAL 2005

MR. CHARLESON:  We apologize, while we tried to send this electronically last night to parties, we ran into some technical difficulties, so it was sent electronically earlier this morning, but, again, we will ‑‑ I will take you through the information that's been provided.


MR. BATTISTA:  For the record, we will characterize K2.1 as TS unwinding costs fiscal 2005.


MR. CHARLESON:  Okay.  What we're trying to show within this table is, first, the total revenue ‑‑ the total revenue associated with the group of transactions that would end up having been ‑‑ that would have been impacted by the unwinding, and I will clarify that a little bit further when I talk specifically about storage.


We then also show the revenue that was generated ‑‑ that was being generated from the transactions that needed to be unwound, the costs associated with the unwinding of those transactions, and the ultimate net benefit, which is just the difference between the revenue from the transactions to be unwound and the unwinding costs, so the net benefit that ratepayers receive or that would go to ‑‑ that transactional services gross margin receives from entering into these types of deals.


In terms of the storage deals, there was a number of term storage deals for approximately 250,000 gigajoules a day that were entered into with November injections that had December and January withdrawals.  So they were ‑‑ so they were in place for a period of time.  And the total revenue associated with those transactions was $5.3 million.


For a few days during November, again because of changes in the weather, it was necessary ‑‑ some of that capacity, a portion of that capacity, about 130,000 gigajoules, was required to meet utility requirements, so alternate arrangements were made to be able to manage that 130,000 gigajoules of capacity.  


So what we have reflected in the revenue from the transactions to be unwound is, say, the 130,000 out of the 250,000, so it's the portion of revenue associated with the volumes that needed to be unwound.  And that's what gave us the $2.7 million.


Now, the cost of the deals that had to be put in place to manage that for these two or three days was about $647,000, so not an insignificant amount, but when we look at the net benefit, so the difference ‑‑ if we hadn't entered into the deals or if we hadn't done the term deals for that 130,000 gigajoules, we wouldn't have seen that 2 million ‑‑ the remaining $2 million flow to the transactional services gross margin.


And, realistically, if ‑- if the unwinding of such deals was a concern and was deemed to be something that the company should not be doing, we realistically would not have entered into any of those term storage deals, so full $5.3 million would not have flown to the TS account.


Looking at the M12 transportation, again, much smaller dollars involved on the transportation deals.  And in this case, there was a couple of small transportation deals that were in place, and the cost of unwinding them ended up being slightly greater than the revenue that was received from the original transactions.  


In the case of the TCPL transportation, there was about five deals that came into play.  And, in this case, the actual unwinding costs were less than the cost of the original transaction, so there still remained a benefit.  So because of shifts in the market between the time the original transaction was put in place and the time the unwinding had to occur, it left -- it still left some revenue being received for those transportation deals.


So if we look at the impact within fiscal 2005, the total unwinding costs that have been recorded within the transactional services deferral account were about $678,000, but as a result of those unwinding costs being there, the transactional services deferral account also has recorded in it over $2 million in revenue.  And, like I indicated earlier, you could raise that number by another $3 million or two-and-half-million dollars, if you assumed that all of those term storage deals would not have been entered into.


MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you, Mr. Charleson.  Madam Chair, those are our questions in direct.  It is now 10:30.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  That's perfect.  I would ask the intervenors to talk to each other during the break and perhaps come up with an order of intervention questions.  And we will break now until 10:45.


‑‑‑ Recess taken at 10:30 a.m. 

--- On resuming at 10:48 a.m.     

     MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated everyone.  Before we begin, I think it is appropriate to say that the Panel has no concerns about you bringing a coffee into the meeting if you want to, given the length of the proceeding, and given that we have coffees up here.  

     Can anyone speak to what the schedule of cross-examination will be? 

     MR. DE VELLIS:  Good morning, Madam Chair.  I've spoken to the other intervenors, and we've decided that VECC will lead off on this issue, and some of the other members will also have questions.  I believe Mr. Thompson will follow me, followed by Ms. DeMarco. 

     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Thompson, and then, I’m sorry, who? 

     MR. DE VELLIS:  Ms. DeMarco.

     MS. NOWINA:  Ms. DeMarco.

     MR. DE VELLIS:  And Mr. Shepherd after that -- 

     MS. NOWINA:  And Mr. Shepherd.

     MR. DE VELLIS:  -- and Mr. Dingwall. 

     MS. NOWINA:  Okay, I think I have it, but you’ll remind if I don't.  Please proceed.

     MR. O'LEARY:  Madam Chair, if I might, we have one further undertaking response that we might put on the record at this time. 

     MS. NOWINA:  Certainly.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  Yesterday, an undertaking was given at J1.3 in respect of the Enbridge Inc. percentage interest in the Vector pipeline.  I believe Mr. Charleson may have a response to that.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  Enbridge currently has a 60 percent ownership interest in the Vector pipeline.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, one other preliminary matter:  we've asked the company to provide with some names of witnesses for future panels.  And, in particular, we're concerned with who is on the panel next Monday, which is the policy panel, because, obviously, depending on who it is, you may approach your cross-examination differently.  

     And we haven't yet had a response to that, and I'm wondering whether we can get some indication from the company as to when we will have a response as to who will be on that panel, so that we can prepare our cross-examination.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. O'Leary, do you have comments on that? 

     MR. O'LEARY:  Madam Chair, all I can advise the Panel is that we are still finalizing that panel.  And we do not have any intent to try and prevent my friends from preparing their cross-examination in advance, but, obviously, we need to finish putting the panel together and finalizing it, before we can provide my friend with any additional names.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Do you have any indication when that might be? 

     MR. O'LEARY:  We would hope no later than Thursday morning. 

     MS. NOWINA:  Will that suffice, Mr. Shepherd? 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, that’s probably less lead-time than we would normally like for a panel like that, and, obviously, if that is the best they can do, that's the best they can do.  But our -- but normally we would expect to have more lead-time than that for important policy panels.       

MR. O'LEARY:  I mean, we have indicated that it's going to involve senior management of the company, so it's not totally without any ability on my friend's part to determine the nature of the questions, would be our submission.  

     MS. NOWINA:  We'll expect it on Thursday morning, then, Mr. O'Leary. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  Madam Chair, can I just ask that Mr. Battista -- through you, may I ask that Mr. Battista put the response to Mr. O’Leary’s -- to Mr. Shepherd's question regarding who is on the panel in his daily report, as it will affect some decisions as to whether or not we will need to attend.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Yes.  Mr. Battista, will you make note of that. 

     MR. BATTISTA:  I will.  I’ll do that.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Any further matters? 

     Mr. DE VELLIS? 

     MR. DE VELLIS:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  

     Madam Chair, I have, in order to assist in cross-examination, prepared a compendium that I filed with the Board on August 12th, and served on the applicant's counsel.  Perhaps that could be marked as an exhibit.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Can we have an exhibit number, Mr. Battista? 

     MR. BATTISTA:  Yes.  The exhibit number is K2.2, and it's the compendium of documents from VECC.  

EXHIBIT NO. K2.2:  COMPENDIUM SERVED AND FILED ON BEHALF OF VECC IN AID OF CROSS-EXAMINATION

     MR. DE VELLIS:  Thank you.

     Madam Chair - and for the witnesses, as well - the first three tabs of the compendium contain evidence and interrogatory responses already filed in this proceeding; tabs four and following are evidence, interrogatory responses and the settlement proposal and methodology filed in the transactional-services proceeding, EB-2005-0244.  

     And I apologize, I had included the -- in terms of tabs eight and nine of the compendium, I had included the settlement proposal and methodology that was originally filed on July 4th.  There were -- was, however, a corrected version containing some minor corrections, filed July 7th, and in the interests of accuracy of the record, I have provided copies to Mr. Schuch and to Mr. O'Leary of the new -- of the corrected settlement proposal and methodology.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Do we need to mark that as an exhibit, Mr. Millar? 

     MR. MILLAR:  For the sake of completeness, I guess we should.  

     MR. BATTISTA:  That will be exhibit K2.3.  And it's -- which tab? It's the updated tab 1 of the compendium of documents of VECC.  Sorry, it's tab 8.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  Sorry, I believe it’s tab 9.  

     MR. BATTISTA:  It's tab 8 and 9.   Tab 8 is the settlement proposal, and tab 9 is the methodology.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  But the corrected exhibit you provided is only the methodology, which is tab 9.  

     MR. DE VELLIS:  I provided one of each.   

     MR. CHARLESON:  Oh, okay.  Sorry. 

     MR. BATTISTA:  Updated tabs 8 and 9 to the compendium of documents provided by VECC.  

EXHIBIT NO. K2.3:  UPDATED VERSIONS OF THE DOCUMENTS CONTAINED AT TABS 8 AND 9 IN THE COMPENDIUM OF DOCUMENTS SERVED AND FILED BY VECC (EXHIBIT K2.2)

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. DE VELLIS:

     MR. DE VELLIS:  Thank you.  

     Mr. Small and Mr. Charleson, in your examination

in-chief and in your evidence at -- being in paragraph 19 - this is Tab 1 of my compendium - you’ve -- I've counted five issues that you've identified, in terms of your inability to forecast transactional-service revenue for 2006.  They are the elimination of bundled-commodity transactions, introduction of new transactional-services methodology, other market conditions, new gas-fired electricity generation and changes to the services the company received from TCPL.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  I think the one additional item that I mentioned in my -- in the evidence in-chief was the trend towards the unbundling of tolls. 

     MR. DE VELLIS:  Unbundling of tolls, okay.  

     Now, in terms of the other market conditions, by that you're referring -- I think you referred in your examination in-chief to market conditions that fluctuate from year to year.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  The other market conditions -- just give me a second here.  The other market conditions is really intended to encompass more than that.  Part of it is the kinds of changes from year to year in terms of weather, but also the changes in service offerings, the potential impacts of gas-fired generation, and also, say, that trend towards unbundled tolls would be -- fall within that.  

     MR. DE VELLIS:  Okay.  I just want to ask, first of all, about factors that would fluctuate from year to year.  I think you mentioned weather conditions, in your examination in-chief.  I can't remember the others.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  Weather was probably one I highlighted, but it also would be market prices or basis differentials at different market points, and that doesn't fluctuate from year to year. 

     MR. DE VELLIS:  Okay.  Do you have any information that would lead you to believe that those factors that fluctuate from year to year would fluctuate more significantly in 2006 than in 2005 or past years? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  No specific evidence.  However, as we see increased volatility or increased commodity pricing, the potential for, say, for those other -- conditions other than weather to fluctuate are there.  And then, of course, weather is always a significant variable.  

     MR. DE VELLIS:  Right.  You provided no evidence that would indicate that they would fluctuate ‑‑ that any of those factors would fluctuate more in -- or in 2006 than in past years.


MR. CHARLESON:  Well, I think, as I indicated earlier, I would agree that I don't believe there is anything specifically within, say, the pre-filed evidence or the interrogatory responses that highlights some of those changes.  But in the examination in‑chief earlier on this morning, where we talked about, you know, some of the -‑ some of the experiences that we've seen this year where, you know, the value we're able to receive from storage in December, the value we're getting from transportation this summer, are things that we haven't seen in previous years and may not occur again next year.


MR. DE VELLIS:  Okay.  Well, I will go back to the comparison for this year and your forecast for next year in a minute.


With respect to the elimination of bundled commodity transactions, at paragraph 13 of your evidence, you say that between 1998 and 2002 TS's gross margin averaged 9.2 million per year, and in 2003 and 2004 the gross margin increased to 18.1 million and 21.8 million, respectively.


In your evidence, you attribute the increase to the addition of bundled gas commodity transactions?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. DE VELLIS:  In response to interrogatory from the Advocates ‑‑ I apologize, it's not in my compendium.  It's number 6.


MR. CHARLESON:  You're referring to Exhibit I, tab 2, schedule 6?


MR. DE VELLIS:  Yes.


MR. CHARLESON:  I have that.


MR. DE VELLIS:  In part 2 of that response, you say that the most significant assumptions supporting the statement ‑ and the statement is that 2006 gross margin will be significantly lower than fiscal 2003 and fiscal 2004 ‑ is that bundled commodity transactions will not be permitted during fiscal 2006.


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, that's correct, based ‑‑ when we look back at, say, 2003 and 2004, in the contribution to the gross margin forecast that bundled commodity transactions made, we saw that as being the most significant factor that would have an impact in 2006.


MR. DE VELLIS:  Okay.  Then you refer on the second paragraph of that response to other factors, and you say some of these factors ‑‑ in the second sentence, of the second paragraph:

"Some of these factors may also lead to a reduction in revenue.  These impacts are not, however, expected to have the same significance as the removal of the bundled commodity transactions."


So ‑‑


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. DE VELLIS:  So that the loss of bundled commodity transactions is clearly the biggest factor impacting TS revenues for 2006?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  And, again, I think if you just look at the pure math, taking a look at 2004 where the bundled commodity transactions were 13.6 million, if the other factors were equivalent to that, it would mean negative revenue of about $4- or $5 million.


MR. DE VELLIS:  Right.


MR. CHARLESON:  So that's why we've identified those as being the most significant.


MR. DE VELLIS:  If I can get you to turn to interrogatory response to VECC No. 22, that's Exhibit I, tab 25, schedule 22.  It's at tab 2 of the compendium, second to last page.  


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, I have that.


MR. DE VELLIS:  Okay.  Here you're asked to estimate the TS gross margin with commodity sales excluded in 2003 and 2004, and you gave $11 million ‑ that's in column A of the response - 11 million in 2003 and 11.6 million in 2004.  Do you see that?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, I do.


MR. DE VELLIS:  Okay.  Now, in response to Board Staff Interrogatory No. 38, that's Exhibit 1, tab 1, schedule 38.  It's at tab 3 in the compendium.


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, I have that.


MR. DE VELLIS:  Okay.  There you're also asked to give transactional services gross margin and you provide ‑‑ I'm sorry, on page 2 of the table.


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.


MR. DE VELLIS:  -- a breakdown of TS gross margin from 1997 to 2005.  Do you see that?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.


MR. DE VELLIS:  Now, for 2003 and 2004, can you just explain, first of all, the difference between your answer here and your answer in VECC 22?  And what I mean by that is, if you take 2003, 18.1 million, minus commodity sales of 10.5 million, you get to 7.6 million; is that right?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.


MR. DE VELLIS:  Versus 11 million in your answer to VECC 22.


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  And the reason for the difference in that, because the 10.5 million that we received in bundled commodity transactions included the use of certain assets, so the commodity was being bundled to an asset, we estimated the value that we believe we may have been able to receive from just selling the asset on its own without the commodity bundled.  So there was still some value attached to that asset, and we believe that we would have still received a portion of that value, but definitely not to the same level that you get when you have the commodity bundled in.


So it was more just an estimation of what value you might have got for just the pure asset, the asset piece.


MR. DE VELLIS:  I see, okay.  So I take your answer to mean, then, that when we're looking at this table there on page 2, starting from 2003 and following, you wouldn't just subtract the amount for commodity sales.  It would be an adjustment for that, because part of that ‑‑ you wouldn't lose all of the commodity sales.  Some of it would be, I guess, given back?


MR. CHARLESON:  We expect that there would still be some value received from those assets, the degree of which is uncertain.


MR. DE VELLIS:  Okay.  Now, if you take the average of those years from 1997 to 2005, excluding commodity, I get 9 million per year.  Would you confirm that?


MR. CHARLESON:  I will accept it, subject to check.


MR. DE VELLIS:  Okay.  Now, I had done it assuming you subtract all of the commodity sales, but, as you say, some of that would be given back, so the average would actually be higher than 9 million for 2003 to 2005?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, I would agree that if you add some dollars back for that, it would raise the average.


MR. DE VELLIS:  Okay.  And if you take from 2001 to 2005, the last five years, excluding commodity sales, my average figure that I arrived at was 10.6 million for those five years.


MR. CHARLESON:  Again, I will accept your calculation, subject to check.


MR. DE VELLIS:  Again, as you say, not all of the commodity sales would be locked, so the average would actually be higher than 10.6 million?


MR. CHARLESON:  That would be the effect of it, yes.


MR. DE VELLIS:  Would you be able to estimate, maybe in an undertaking, what the average would be, taking into account that not all of the commodity sales would be lost for the last five years, 2001 to 2005?


MR. CHARLESON:  I guess we could do that, and what we would use as the basis for that would be the response to VECC Interrogatory No. 22, with the estimated gross revenue in part A of that response, replacing the numbers for 2003 and 2004.  For 2005, I would see it as having a modest impact.


So if you want us to do the calculation rather than yourself, we can do so.

     MR. DE VELLIS:  That's fine.  I -- for that, I’ve got 22.  

     In your response to VECC 23 -- that's Exhibit I, tab 25, schedule 23, that will be the next page of the compendium that you're looking at. 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, I have that.  

     MR. DE VELLIS:  There you give the gross margin forecast for 2005 as 10.7 million.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  That was for calendar 2005.  Our estimate was -- yes, it’s $10.7 million.  But, again, there were certain -- I believe the assumption there was with the -- with some -- there were certain assumptions that were built into that, as well.  

     MR. DE VELLIS:  Your -- the assumption was that the TS methodology would be approved? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, but that it would not be in place until the middle of the year.  

     MR. DE VELLIS:  Right.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  Right.

     MR. DE VELLIS:  And that, also, is if EGS remains as a counter-party.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, that's correct.  

     MR. DE VELLIS:  Okay.  I'm going to get some more specific questions regarding the new methodology, but, for now, could you confirm that EGS will remain as a

counter-party in TS transactions?  

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  Based on the approved methodology, Enbridge Gas Services is able to continue to participate as a counter-party, with some restrictions related to the unsolicited opportunities.  

     MR. DE VELLIS:  Okay.  Now, as far as the loss of bundled commodity transactions, there's no real difficulty in providing the forecast for 2006 that takes into account the loss of bundled gas, is there? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  I would say, yes, there is still difficulty, because to remove something from forecast, you need to have a starting forecast.  So for us to be -- we could, potentially, estimate the value of bundled commodity transactions that would not occur in 2006; however, it doesn't leave you with a remaining forecast, because we still haven't been able to -- or, you know, we haven't estimated -- or, we’ve got all the other factors where there is the uncertainty.  

     MR. DE VELLIS:  Well, I understand.  I'm trying to isolate the loss on the bundled-commodity transactions.  And I guess -- go back to the Interrogatory Response to Board Staff 38.  And again, I’d ask you to confirm the loss -- the average loss of the last five years, excluding commodity transactions, is 10.6 million.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  We agree to that subject to check. 

     MR. DE VELLIS:  And there would be an increase, because not all of the commodity sales would be lost.  And your estimate for 2005 is 10.7 million.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  Sorry, which year?  I think you mean 2003.  

     MR. DE VELLIS:  Your estimate for 2005, that you gave in response to IR No. 23 from VECC, was 10.7 million.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.    

     MR. DE VELLIS:  Which is almost exactly the average of TS gross margin, excluding gas __ bundled-gas sales from 2001 to 2005.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  Purely by coincidence, rather than by design. 

     MR. DE VELLIS:  I understand that.  But you have a track record of TS gross margin, without bundled-gas sales, to rely on in terms of your forecast for 2006.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  If you assume that all other elements remain equal, yes. 

     MR. DE VELLIS:  Well that's what I'm trying to do.  I'm trying to isolate the effect of bundled -- the loss of bundled-gas commodity.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  It should be recognized -- I guess it should be recognized, as well, though, that, in providing the calendar 2005 forecast, we also had a number of months of experience within calendar 2005, that had -- especially focused on a period of year where you would typically generate some of -- a significant portion of your revenues.  So that, also, assisted us in being able to forecast that number.  

     MR. DE VELLIS:  And in your examination in-chief, you also -- and earlier, in my examination, you had mentioned that 2005 -- there were certain factors in 2005 which you wouldn't necessarily see in other years.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, that's correct.  

     MR. De VELLIS:  Okay.  But when we look at the average of the last five years, for example, we see that your estimate for 2005 isn't really out of line with the average over the last five years, is it? When you exclude gas -- bundled-gas sales. 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, I would agree. 

     MR. DE VELLIS:  Okay.  So it's not like 2005 is a particularly good year, that it wouldn't be useful in establishing -- in helping to establish a forecast for 2006.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  Other than the fact that the forecast for 2005 does not reflect the introduction of the new methodology __ 

     MR. DE VELLIS:  I understand that -- 

     MR. CHARLESON:  -- other than --

     MR. DE VELLIS:  -- I’ll get to the new methodology.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  Okay.

     MR. DE VELLIS:  Now, with respect to the new methodology -- firstly, the documents that I had submitted earlier, I believe were made Exhibits K2.3, which is the modified tab 8 and 9 -- is the settlement proposal -- the corrected settlement proposal, dated July 7th, and the corrected methodology for transactional services, also dated July 7th.  

     And Enbridge Gas Distribution was a party to the settlement proposal? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, we were.  

     MR. DE VELLIS:  Okay.  If you can just turn to -- sorry, did you give evidence or file pre-filed evidence in the TS proceeding, EB-2005-0244? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, we did, and I believe it has been included in your compendium. 

     MR. DE VELLIS:  Right.  So that's your evidence at tab 4 of the compendium? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, that's correct.  

     MR. DE VELLIS:  And if you could turn to tab -- sorry, paragraph 5 of your evidence, in the second sentence, you say:  

"Enbridge Gas Distribution has had to balance the competitive interests of these stakeholders with a desire to optimize the revenue potential from the TS assets to help reduce distribution rates, which the Board states as an objective in 2.5.9 of the decision". 

     The decision you're referring to is RP-2003-0203; is that right? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, that's correct.  

     MR. DE VELLIS:  So that was at least one of your objectives in developing the new transactional-services methodology, that is, to optimize the revenue potential from TS assets.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, that's correct --

     MR. DE VELLIS:  Correct? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  -- our -- both the development of the methodology and our ongoing operation -- historic operation of the TS program has always been to try to optimize the revenue potential.  

     MR. DE VELLIS:  Okay.  And then that, still, would have been your objective going into the negotiations, to resolve the transactional-services methodology, in your view? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, it was.  

     MR. DE VELLIS:  Now, I will refer you now to the settlement proposal at page 5.  This is a settlement proposal that was placed before the Board? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, it was.  And it was accepted and approved by the Board.  

    
MR. DE VELLIS:  Right.  And under heading number 2, "Proposed TS Methodology", it states: 

"This settlement proposal presents a new TS methodology for making surplus utility storage and transportation assets available to the marketplace that is intended to reflect the following principles."


Now, I refer you to the fourth bullet point under that paragraph:

"Enhancing ratepayer benefits from TS optimization through increased market confidence and value from TS assets."


Now, enhancing ratepayer benefits sounds like you've improved on the existing methodology, doesn't it?


MR. CHARLESON:  I wouldn't agree with that.  I think when we're talking about the principles, there's a number of principles that have to be balanced, and, in arriving at the methodology, there were approaches within the methodology that ‑‑ or actions that could have been taken in the settlement of the methodology that could have made the impact to ratepayers, say, worse, for lack of a better term, than what we anticipate the ‑‑ or, you know, than the risk that we see associated with introducing methodologies.  


So we believe that in arriving at this settlement, it provided an appropriate balance between the objectives and the desires of other parties to the settlement conference, and also the interests of ratepayers, in that we could have ‑‑ that for us to agree to some of the other aspects and elements that parties advocated throughout the process would not have left us in a position where we had that chance for the optimization.


MR. DE VELLIS:  Well, you wouldn't have agreed to a new TS methodology that you felt was worse than the existing methodology?


MR. CHARLESON:  Um, unfortunately, I don't know if I can agree with that statement.  We were ordered by the Board, in the RP-2000 ‑‑ in the RP-2003‑0203 decision ‑‑ and if I turn you back to tab 4 of your compendium, in paragraph 2 in the decision with reasons, in the direct ‑‑ where it indicates that the Board directed Enbridge Gas Distribution to, and this is a direct quote from the decision:

"... develop a methodology for making such surplus [transportation and storage] assets known to and available to unrelated market participants on a non‑discriminatory basis as soon as practicable and ideally within 60 days.  This methodology should be developed with the input and participation of market participants interested in having access to such assets."


So based on this direction from the Board, we were in a position where we had to change the methodology that was being used.  It's our view that the methodology that we were directed to put in place would have a negative impact or would -- has the potential to negatively impact the gross margin from transactional services, because, in effect, it changes the way in which transactional services activities are performed, but it was a methodology that we were directed to do.  


It's a methodology that we worked with stakeholders to develop and that we took into the settlement conference.  And, ultimately, the methodology that came out of the settlement conference was largely similar to what was originally proposed by the company.  There were some adjustments and modifications made to address some specific issues and concerns, but, again, our going-in position would have been that what we were dealing with was already, say, potentially worse than the methodology we were using or that we'd been using up until now.


MR. DE VELLIS:  Okay.  You're quite right, the new methodology was mandated by the Board, and what the Board said is that the new methodology would provide the TS assets to market participants on a non‑discriminatory basis.


Now, would you agree with me that the purpose of the Board ordering that would be to optimize the value of those assets?


MR. CHARLESON:  I can't speak specifically to what the purpose of the Board's direction may have been, given that the Board, within its decision, also precluded the company from conducting bundled commodity transactions, which would help to optimize the value of the assets, and the Board in its decision acknowledged that the decision would have a potential negative impact on the gross margin that ‑‑ or the benefits that ratepayers would receive from transactional services, seemed to be focussed more on a concern for market transparency and, you know, effective operation of the market and was less concerned with potential impacts to ratepayers.


MR. DE VELLIS:  Well, the issue of bundled gas is a whole other section in that 0203 decision.  But as far as the new methodology, surely you will agree that the purpose of having more transparent market is to -- so that the value of the assets increases, and, in turn, the value to ratepayers increases?


MR. CHARLESON:  I don't know if I can agree with that statement.


MR. DE VELLIS:  Now, staying with the ‑‑ your evidence there at tab 4, would you turn to paragraph 16?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, I have that.


MR. DE VELLIS:  In there, you're making the case for continued participation of EGS as a counter-party for TS transactions, and you say that allowing that to continue would increase the opportunity to optimize the value of the utility assets, fewer counterparties can contribute to reduce competition for the assets and potentially lower prices being sold.


Now, the new TS methodology will preserve the right of EGS to act as a counter-party; correct?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, that's correct.  One of the principles that we looked at with the methodology is we were very concerned with the methodology precluding any counter-party from being able to participate in the market.


MR. DE VELLIS:  Thank you.  And the other major feature of the methodology is the bidding process for longer-term day‑ahead and intra‑day assets?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, I would say that is the key feature of it.


MR. DE VELLIS:  Okay.  If you go to paragraph 6 of your evidence, there you say that:

"The blind auction process provides all parties with a fair and non‑discriminatory opportunity to bid for the assets that are available."


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. DE VELLIS:  Now, so as far as the blind auction goes, its purpose is to optimize the value of the assets that are available?


MR. CHARLESON:  No.  Its purpose is to provide access to the assets in a fair and non‑discriminatory manner.


MR. DE VELLIS:  I guess we're going over the same ground, but the purpose of that would be to optimize the value?


MR. CHARLESON:  As an outcome, you would hope that that would be the result.


MR. DE VELLIS:  Thank you.  You wouldn't expect the blind auction process, per se, to be a factor in reducing TS gross margin for 2006?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, I would.  And, again, this is a change in methodology from the way that we offer things today.  As I indicated in my examination in‑chief earlier on, the ‑‑ we're not sure how counter-parties will respond to the auction process, how they will look to participate; also, whether the manner in which they bid for those assets will deliver the same type of value that we've been able to achieve in the past from either having counter-parties approach us or us approaching counter-parties for those assets where it's a more targeted need.


Within the methodology, we did build in a protection of sorts by the inclusion of a floor price for bidding, but there is nothing that would indicate that the prices we're able to get today may have been significantly more than that floor price may be established at, and, going forward, the use of a blind auction process may only allow you to get that floor price.   There is no discretion allowed on when the bids come in.  

     MR. DE VELLIS:  Right.  But in your evidence, you describe the blind auction process as leading to a fairer and non-discriminatory opportunity for the sale of the assets.  In describing the new methodology in the settlement proposal, you say that it will enhance ratepayer benefits.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  In comparison to other alternatives that the parties may have proposed.  

     MR. DE VELLIS:  Well, the auction process was designed by EGD, wasn't it? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  The auction process was designed by Enbridge Gas Distribution, in consultation with stakeholders, as directed by the Board.  We saw that as being the, say, the only real vehicle for satisfying the conditions that the Board had directed with -- coming out of the 2005 rate case decision.  

     But there were design principles, as well.  There's considerations within the way that the auction is conducted, as well -- was to be conducted, as well, that we put in, such as the requirement of a floor price.  That was meant to enhance the ratepayer benefits of the TS optimization.  The exclusion of a floor price could have led to the risk that counter-parties could have bid in at a penny or a fraction of a cent and acquired assets, whereas the floor price provided some protection so that you would -- so that you do try to optimize the value you get through the auction process.  

     However, you were still relying on the auction process, which is different from the way that we do it today.  

     MR. DE VELLIS:  Another feature of the new methodology is that it will be reviewed in a year? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, that's correct.  

     MR. DE VELLIS:  Okay.  I will refer you specifically to -- again, to Page 5 of the settlement proposal, bottom of the page:

“The parties agree that the new TS methodology, including, without limitation, EGD's affiliate participation in unsolicited bids for TS, and the floor price mechanism and the revenue impact of the new TS methodology will be examined thoroughly in light of the principles enumerated in this section." 

     So the new methodology will be reviewed, in any event, during the next rates case.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  Or in the -- in the rates case that follows fiscal 2006.  Whether that aligns with our 2007 rate case, or the one beyond there, remains to be seen.  But that’s also why the settlement proposal allowed for a proceeding that may be held for the specific purpose of reviewing the methodology. 

     MR. DE VELLIS:  If you look further down at, well, the sentence after the next, 

“EGD will prepare and file reports, including TS data, in the form prescribed in the TS methodology for this purpose.” 

    So whenever the new methodology is reviewed, whether it’s in the next rates case or the one after, they will presumably have a much better understanding of the impact of the new methodology.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, that's correct.  

     MR. DE VELLIS:  Okay.  And you will agree, then, in the current rates case, you haven't provided any financial data to indicate what, if any, the financial impact will be.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  I think what we've indicated is there's a great deal of uncertainty, which makes it impossible to estimate what the financial impacts are going to be.  

     MR. DE VELLIS:   We’ll go back, now, to your evidence in the current proceeding, paragraph 20.   

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, I have that.  

     MR. DE VELLIS:  There you mention the impact of gas-fired electricity generation on TS revenue.  I think you said, in your evidence in-chief, that there will be no impact in 2006.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  If you just bear with me a second.  I believe there’s an interrogatory response that dealt with that issue.   

     MR. DE VELLIS:  Well, VECC No. 18 -- 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  

     MR. DE VELLIS: -- I believe deals with that. 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, there’s -- I guess, there’s a few.  There’s Board Staff 39 -- 

     MR. DE VELLIS:  Right.  

     MR. CHARLESON:   --- which confirms that we don't see any significant new gas-fired within 2006.  

     MR. DE VELLIS:  Thank you.        

     MR. CHARLESON:  The -- but I think -- and thank you for pointing me to VECC 18, that was the one I was looking for.  So again, if we look at the response to VECC 18, which is found at Exhibit I, tab 25, schedule 18, it does confirm that, within 2006, there is limited volumes that we see associated with gas-fired generation.  

     However, what this response also indicates is that what the company is hoping to establish, in terms of a sharing mechanism in this proceeding, is one that can be in place for a number of years.  We're hoping that, as a result of this outcome, there is a sharing mechanism established that we believe is fair and appropriate and that can be in place for a number of years.  And so, as a result, we felt it was important to identify all of the impacts that we see, not just within 2006.  There was a potential, at the time the pre-file was being prepared, that gas-fired generation could have had more impact in 2006.  But regardless, we still felt it was important to identify some of the uncertainties, the market changes that can continue to happen year over year -- and to try to, you know, with the outcome that we would hope for from this proceeding, being a sharing mechanism that all parties believe is fair and can be in place for a number of years, so we're not going over this ground every year.  

     MR. DE VELLIS:  I understand that.  But for 2006, there is no impact from gas generation? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  That's correct.  Within 2006, we don't see any.  

     MR. DE VELLIS:  Thank you.  Now, at paragraph 21 of your evidence -- 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  

     MR. DE VELLIS:  -- you mention the changes to the service the company receives from TransCanada PipeLines Limited.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  We highlight that as an example of service changes that can occur. 

     MR. DE VELLIS:  Okay.  Now, if I can refer you now to VECC No.19.  It’s Exhibit I, tab 25, schedule 19, which is also at tab 2 of our compendium.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, I have that.  

     MR. DE VELLIS:  The third question is, please identify the amount of TS revenue that has historically been generated from the STS summer gas injections.  

     Your answer is found on page 2, paragraph C:

 “The summer portion is not the main concern of gas, Enbridge Gas Distribution.  The loss of flexibility in the winter is when value is destroyed.”    

     So I didn't understand that answer.  Does -- is there an impact on TS revenue from STS summer gas injections? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  There’s an impact overall, from the changes to the -- or potential impact from the overall changes to the STS service.  The reason that the summer injections are -- summer portion of the injections is less of a concern is because the -- there's different services that we are going to have to use to move the gas from our franchise area to storage, to manage the injections during the summer.  Those are incremental services, and not necessarily using existing capacity.  

     However, during the winter, currently, we're able to generate value from transactional services by making use of the full contract flexibility that we have with our STS contract.  We have a contract demand, I think, of about 283,000 gigajoules a day.   Where we're not necessarily using that on a daily basis.   


So today we're able to use some of that STS capacity, or in the past we've been able to use some of that STS capacity and the additional nomination windows that are available under the STS service to generate intra-day opportunities and revenue from those ‑‑ from such opportunities.


With the requirement now to balance injections with withdrawals, we have to be much more cautious, in terms of the manner in which we use that STS service, so that we ‑‑ it's going to be less available for STS ‑‑ for transactional services opportunities, because we need to reserve the total STS balance or transactional capability for managing our ‑‑ the supply needs of the utility customers.  


So it reduces some of the transport capacity or some of the contracted capacity that we may be able to use for transactional services during the winter months.


MR. DE VELLIS:  The next question in that interrogatory is:  How is the fundamental principle of TS revenue-sharing mechanism impacted by the company's concern with summer gas injections?


And your answer at paragraph B on page 2:

"As the evidence indicates, it is not only STS changes that impact the company's ability to generate historical amounts of TS activities and enhance TS revenue."


And then you go on to list other factors, like loss of bundled commodity transactions.


I take it from your answer there is no impact on the level of TS activity resulting from the company's concern with summer gas injections?


MR. CHARLESON:  I don't think I said there is no impact of it.  I'm indicating that the main concern that we have is the winter use of the STS service.


Having to manage the balances and the injections is requiring us during the summer to monitor the way that we use some of our transportation capacity a little bit differently.  As we've been working through this summer, the release of certain capacity for transactional services activities has been curtailed or held back, to a certain extent, so that we ensure that we get sufficient injections in place.  So it is impacting summer, but to a much lesser extent than what we would expect to see the impacts being in the winter.


So, again, it is more balancing of -- the focus isn't the summer injections.  There is an impact there, but the real focus of the changes to STS is the value you can receive in the winter from that service.


MR. DE VELLIS:  Okay.  The changes that you identified to the TCPL service relate to summer gas injections.  That's what you're referring to in paragraph 21 of your evidence?


MR. CHARLESON:  I'm sorry, could you repeat that, please?


MR. DE VELLIS:  In paragraph 21, what you're referring to, second sentence:

"The company has been working with TCPL to try to resolve concerns related to summer gas injections.”


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. DE VELLIS:  So that is your concern there and your evidence?


MR. CHARLESON:  The concern is ‑‑ and the concern that we've been trying to resolve with TCPL was the manner in which we're able to do summer gas injections, not from a transactional services perspective, but more in terms of the service changes that were required from TransCanada.


With the ‑‑ with the large amount of turn-back that was elected by direct purchase shippers in 2003, I believe, a lot ‑‑ the company had reduced FT or firm transportation arrangements with TransCanada and, as a result, lost a lot of its ‑‑ the injection rights that come with that ‑‑ those firm transportation arrangements.


So since that time, we have been trying to work with TransCanada to develop a service that would replace that capacity so that, on a firm basis, we would have the capability to move gas from the franchise areas to storage during the summer months.


And it was the resolution ‑‑ but -- so it's the resolution of how that was going to be addressed that would end up ‑‑ that we saw as having an impact on overall transactional services activities.  And the resolution that we've arrived to, which we still only see as being an interim measure, ends up having an ‑‑ we do see it having an impact on transactional services, but not from a summer ‑‑ not mainly from a summer injection perspective, but more from the way that the winter withdrawal is happening. 


So the balancing of injections and withdrawals with something that became ‑‑ formed part of the service resolution or the resolution of the service issue and is what ends up driving the impact, but, as I indicated, that has more of an impact on transactional services activity that can be performed in the winter.  So a summer injection problem led to an impact on our winter revenue capability.


MR. DE VELLIS:  Okay.  If you could turn back to your evidence in the TS proceeding at tab 4, paragraph 21?


MR. CHARLESON:  I have that.


MR. DE VELLIS:  You say there:

"Enbridge Gas Distribution is not aware of any evidence that would indicate that interruptible customers have been impacted negatively in any way due to TS activities and believes the Board should not act on IGUA's assertions."


 And paragraph 18, you refer to the service level agreement with Enbridge Gas Services.  It says that:

"The terms and conditions specifically identify that interruptible customers must not be interrupted as a means of providing transactional service."


Now, if I could now refer you to the settlement proposal again ‑‑ I'm sorry, the methodology on the third page.  Unfortunately, the corrected version, the pages aren't numbered, but it's the third page in, under "Impact of TS Activities on Interruptible Customers", and it says:

"The guiding principle is interruptible customers must not be curtailed as a result of providing any transactional service."


So that is just a restatement of something that the company had asserted to already be the case prior to the TS proceeding?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, but given that -- with the repatriation of Enbridge Gas Services forming part of the settlement agreement, the service level agreement that dictated that principle would no longer ‑‑ would end up terminating.  So including restating this statement within the methodology ensures that that principle lives beyond the termination of that service level agreement.


MR. DE VELLIS:  I understand.  The principle -- I guess what I'm asking, it's the principle that existed before, and it's just now incorporated into the methodology?


MR. CHARLESON:  That's correct.


MR. DE VELLIS:  Because there is no change at that point?


MR. CHARLESON:  That's right.


MR. DE VELLIS:  Now, below that guiding principle, you have two specific constraints on ‑‑ with respect to interruptible customers.  They're at paragraphs A and B, and the constraints are in relation to M12 capacity in the central delivery area, and TransCanada pipeline FT capacity to the eastern delivery areas?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. DE VELLIS:  And both of them are the same, in terms of their wording?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, other than specific references to the transport capacity that's in question.


MR. DE VELLIS:  Yes, right, of course.  Okay.  And they are that if a period of interruption occurs in either M12 capacity to the central delivery area, or CDA, or TCPL capacity to the eastern delivery area, or EDA, EGD will either cancel interruptible TS transactions or effectively unwind any firm TS transaction that commenced during the period of curtailment.


Now, in responses to interrogatories in the TS proceeding, you provided a breakdown of TS activities during periods of curtailment?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. DE VELLIS:  I will refer you to your response to IGUA No. 10, and that's at tab 6 of the compendium.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, I have that.  

     MR. DE VELLIS:  Now, if we try and identify the TS revenue that would be affected by these constraints in the new -- if you -- comparing it to the historical years, there's a table on the -- pages 2 and 3 of IGUA No.10.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  

     MR. DE VELLIS:  If you look at the Union M12 capacity, you have -- to the central delivery area, you have TS revenue to the -- during periods of curtailment to the central delivery area on February 19th, 2003, February 20th, 2003, February 27th, 2003, January 9th and 10th, 2004.    

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, that's correct. 

     MR. DE VELLIS:  The total TS revenue generated during periods of curtailment to -- on the M12 capacity to the central delivery area, for those three years, I get 37,450.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  My rough look at the numbers got me to something similar to that, so --

     MR. DE VELLIS:  Okay.  If you can confirm that, subject to check. 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Subject to check.  

     MR. DE VELLIS:  Okay.  And TS revenue during periods of curtailment of capacity on the TransCanada FT to the eastern delivery area, we have a transaction for $39,000 on February 18th, 2003.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  That's correct.  

     MR. DE VELLIS:  That's the only one for those three years.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  

     MR. DE VELLIS:  So as far as paragraphs A and B of the methodology that we looked at earlier are concerned, the TS revenue that would have been at stake during the last three years would be $37,450 for paragraph A, and $39,000 - that's over three years - under paragraph B. 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  Based on our historic experience, the dollars were seen to be relatively small.  And I believe that is why other parties to the settlement agreement were comfortable with those restrictions being put in place.  

     I think it’s also to important to note, though, that there’s still additional risk related to -- and uncertainty related to these two components of the settlement agreement -- or, I guess, of the methodology, where those paragraphs talk about the unwinding of firm TS deals, and the potential future review of the impact of unwinding transactions.  

     If that future review were to determine that firm transactions should not be entered into during periods of curtailment, or -- the company, in effect, would be forced to be in a position to only do interruptible transactions during most of the winter, where it has the ability, then, to interrupt those transactions, and the value that can be received for those transactions is significantly less.  

     So you wouldn't just be looking at the value of the M12 transactions during periods of curtailment in the CDA, you would have to be looking at the potential impact of all M12 transactions during the winter months.  So, again, that’s one of the uncertainties we still face coming out of this methodology, is -- there are still some elements that are subject to review.  

     Now, it's our firm belief that the manner in which we've been operating and the unwinding of the transactions is in the best interests of all ratepayers, but it is something that may be subject to a further review.  

     MR. DE VELLIS:  When you say subject to a further review, that would be during the next rates case?   Or at some other point by the Board? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  Or -- I forget the specific wording -- 

     MR. DE VELLIS:  Right.

     MR. CHARLESON:  -- but there is specific wording within the agreement that allows concerns -- 

     MR. DE VELLIS:  But --

     MR. CHARLESON:  -- to be brought forward. 

     MR. DE VELLIS:  -- as far as 2006 goes? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  As far as 2006 goes, it wouldn't play a role in the January to April time -- or January to March time-frame, but could play a role in the November and December time-frame.  

     MR. DE VELLIS:  Okay.  And the costs of unwinding, would you say that they would normally be relative to the TS revenue that's generated during that time?  

     MR. CHARLESON:  I think on the exhibit we provided earlier, K2.1, it showed that, in terms of the types of deals that we're talking about here, they have been relatively comparable.  

     MR. DE VELLIS:  Okay.  Thank you.  

     I see, Madam Chair, it is five to 12.  I have about 20 minutes left.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Why don't we finish your questioning, then, Mr. De Vellis.  

     MR. DE VELLIS:  Okay.  Thank you.  

     In your evidence at paragraph 25 -- 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Perhaps you can -- which -- 

     MR. DE VELLIS:  Sorry --

     MR. CHARLESON:  -- of my evidence are you referring to? 

     MR. DE VELLIS:  In the current proceeding, tab 1.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  Thank you.  Yes, I have that.  

     MR. DE VELLIS:  You make your case, I guess, for the

-- why the current -- that you think that, in addition to eliminating the guaranteed amounts to ratepayers, the sharing mechanism should also be changed. 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, that's correct. 

     MR. DE VELLIS:  At the first sentence in paragraph 25 you say:  

“Given that the principle focus of management is to ensure the safe and reliable delivery of natural gas to customers, there needs to be an appropriate incentive to attract management attention to ensuring value is achieved for ratepayers through TS activities." 

     And the next sentence: 

“The sharing mechanism must also consider the uncertainty that has been introduced to TS by the changes that are mandated or that are occurring in the marketplace.”  

     Now, these uncertainties that you're referring to, they would affect the level of the forecast, wouldn't they? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes --    

     MR. DE VELLIS:  They wouldn't necessarily -- sorry.

     MR. CHARLESON:  I was going to say, yes, the -- they affect our ability to forecast and that's the main reasons why we haven't been able to provide a forecast, other than the best-guess range that we provided in the response to that Board Staff interrogatory.  

     MR. DE VELLIS:  Right.  But beyond the level of the forecast, they wouldn't provide a justification for changing the formula for sharing with ratepayers?  

     MR. CHARLESON:  I think, as you look at the -- say, the risks and the uncertainty regarding the level of revenue, the level of gross margin, you want to ensure that there's still an appropriate incentive to attract management attention.  

     As you -- you know, if the revenues are impacted at or below, say, the low end of our forecast range, the existing sharing mechanism, or something comparable to that, greatly reduces or eliminates the degree of incentive for -- you know, for the attention towards those activities.  

     MR. DE VELLIS:  Well  -- 

     MR. CHARLESON:  -- so we see -- that's why we see the risks and the uncertainties and the potential significantly lower revenue as being a good reason for re-looking at the sharing mechanism. 

     MR. DE VELLIS:  I guess what I'm asking is, beyond the forecast and the embedded amount, that it is the guaranteed amount that would go to ratepayers that will reduce the revenue deficiency, in terms of the percentage share above that, between -- allocated between shareholders and ratepayers.  The uncertainties you're referring to wouldn't necessarily provide a justification for sharing -- for changing that percentage.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  I think it still does because, again, if you look at the existing sharing, where it's, say, 75:25, and the revenues get smaller, well, the portion that will go to the shareholder gets smaller.  So, again, the -- is the -- is there an appropriate incentive or balancing of risks there? 


MR. DE VELLIS:  In paragraph 27 of the evidence before you, at tab 1, you say:

"The company is proposing that the first .8 million in gross margin be used to recover the incremental O&M costs associated with providing TS."


Now, I ask first, the ‑‑ this evidence was prepared before the settlement of the TS methodology?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. DE VELLIS:  Now that the -- pursuant to the settlement, those functions will be repatriated to EGD, are you still proposing that they would be calculated in that way?


MR. CHARLESON:  I guess in terms of the order of magnitude to say the $800,000, it's still our expectation that the cost of administering transactional services will be comparable to that.  We don't see the repatriation dramatically changing the costs as a result of -- the existing service agreement as a cost-based agreement, so who you report to doesn't necessarily change the cost structure.


Whether that 8 million -- or the 800,000 -- sorry, .8 million, I lost the decimal for a second ‑‑ is -- you know, whether that is used to offset the transactional service cost to be booked as other revenue, or whether it just be returned and included within the O&M cost, I think the company is indifferent to.  And, for simplicity, it may make more sense for it to ultimately end up back in the O&M.  But for the purpose of this filing, we still have it included as part of ‑‑ as a credit to the other services revenue, and so at least it is identified and recognized.  


What needs to be understood is that it is not included anywhere within our existing O&M cost that are filed within this application.


MR. DE VELLIS:  Okay.  And in response to Board Staff 41, Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 41, which is also at tab 3 of the compendium.


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, I have that.


MR. DE VELLIS:  There you say that the .8 million for incremental O&M costs is shown as a reduction to other operating revenue for the 2006 test year.


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.


MR. DE VELLIS:  You may have already answered this, but is that going to be how you're going to be treating it, or now that it's been repatriated, are you just going to add it to O&M?


MR. CHARLESON:  Again, given the -- for the purpose of this application, it is currently reflected as a reduction to other operating revenue.  At this time, we don't plan ‑‑ we don't intend to update our whole application to move that .8 million from other revenue to O&M.  


If the Board were to direct us to -- you know, were to increase our O&M by the .8 million, and then also increase the other revenue by the .8 million - so, in essence, to move it into O&M - the company wouldn't be opposed to that direction.  And for the longer term, it may prove to be more simple that way.


Our main concern is that we ensure that we're held whole in terms of the treatment of those costs.


MR. DE VELLIS:  Okay.  Now, in terms of the $800,000, is that made up of salaries of employees who administer the TS function?


MR. CHARLESON:  That's a component of the costs.


MR. DE VELLIS:  Okay.  I think you mentioned in examination in‑chief the staff that administer the TS activities.  You went through some of their job functions, but, essentially, it's their job to identify TS assets and optimize the value of TS revenues?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  It's their line responsibility to try to optimize that revenue.


MR. DE VELLIS:  Okay.


MR. CHARLESON:  With the assets that are made available to them.


MR. DE VELLIS:  And if the revenue ‑‑ sorry, the percent of TS revenue that would go to the company was, say, 10 percent rather than 50 percent, would these employees do their job any differently?


MR. CHARLESON:  Those employees, I wouldn't expect them to do their job any differently, because, again, their focus is taking the assets that have been made available to them and trying to optimize the value that they're able to get.


The concern that we have is -- is more the management attention, management focus; also, the manner in which we may look to manage other assets.  So there's other parts of our ‑‑ of the way we manage our supply portfolio, the way we manage our ‑‑ the overall operation of our system that may create opportunities for transactional services for these people to then go and optimize, and that is more where our concern lies.  


From a sharing mechanism perspective and the management attention is:  Is there an incentive there that these people, that aren't directly involved in the TS function, have to try to ensure that there is an appropriate ‑‑ that there is that focus to try to provide the opportunities to make assets available for that person to then go and optimize it.


MR. DE VELLIS:  Well, I guess ‑‑


MR. CHARLESON:  Over and above their regular responsibilities of operating the system and ensuring safe and reliable distribution.


MR. DE VELLIS:  Well, I guess I would ask the question of -- the same question of other employees up the chain.  Would they perform their job any differently if the company received 10 percent versus 50 percent?


MR. CHARLESON:  I would say yes.  Given that, you know, our resources ‑‑ resources are focussed on their core responsibilities, they're going to -‑ they're going to put their focus on ensuring that their main responsibilities are being met.


To the extent that there is no real incentive or ‑‑ to push beyond or to, you know, put in, you know, the ‑‑ you know, the ‑‑ I don't like to say the extra effort, because I think as an organization we consistently try to put in an extra effort in terms of the way that we manage our system.  


But for something that, in essence, is almost a discretionary‑type function, to attract additional attention, there needs to be ‑‑ there should be something that rewards that going above and beyond from the ‑‑ for people, for the organization where it's not necessarily aligned with just the safe and reliable distribution.  


 You know, it is similar to anybody.  Are you going to work an extra two or three hours every day if you -- you know, if there's nothing in it for you, or if it helps to contribute towards greater success for yourself and the organization?


MR. DE VELLIS:  At the last sentence of paragraph 25, going back to your tab 1 now.


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.


MR. DE VELLIS:  You say:

"This incentive should also be consistent with other regulatory experience."


Are you referring there to other jurisdictions, or other incentive mechanisms within Enbridge's rate structure?


MR. CHARLESON:  I'm referring to both.


MR. DE VELLIS:  Okay.


MR. CHARLESON:  As we discussed during ‑‑ or as I commented during the examination in‑chief, we have seen, within Ontario, where a 50:50 sharing has been used as a mechanism for earning ‑‑ for earnings sharing, both within Enbridge and Union.  But, also, when we look towards other jurisdictions, we see a number of examples in other jurisdictions, more within the US, where a 50:50 sharing, and even in one case where some of the initial revenues are shared at a 65 percent level to the shareholder.


MR. DE VELLIS:  Are you talking about TS revenues?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  I'm talking about transactional services revenues.


MR. DE VELLIS:  You haven't provided me with that evidence you were filing.


MR. CHARLESON:  Again, if you refer to the compendium that you provided behind -- I believe it is tab 7.  There is the ‑‑ the report that was prepared by the Canadian Energy Regulation Information Service on behalf of the Ontario Energy Board Staff, which basically did a review of all jurisdictions within North America.  And within that report, it summarizes, where available, the nature of the sharing mechanisms that were ‑‑ that are provided.


And I think what the report shows is there is a variety, in terms of the nature of the sharing mechanisms that are out there, but there are a number of examples within that report where a sharing mechanism, similar to what we're proposing, where there is 50:50, are in effect.  


I can point to jurisdictions like Colorado, District of Columbia, the -- Virginia is one where there is actually a higher percentage for some the initial revenues and then reverts to a 50:50 sharing.  

     So, again, without going through each of the jurisdictions, I think what we see is, there are examples out there where other regulators have found this type of sharing to be appropriate.  

     MR. DE VELLIS:  At paragraph 26, you make the comparison -- of your evidence, tab 1, you make a comparison between the earning-sharing mechanism for earnings in excess of the Board-approved return on equity and your proposal for a sharing mechanism for transactional services. 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  In our evidence here, we tried to point to that as an example as to where a type of -- there's a type of sharing similar to what we proposed has been used -- or put in place by the Board.  

     MR. DE VELLIS:  Right.  And the return on equity is an amount built into the revenue requirement that allows the company to earn returns in investment.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  

     MR. DE VELLIS:  Is that right? Okay.  That amount isn't shared with ratepayers at all, unless a certain threshold is met.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  I would agree. 

     MR. DE VELLIS:  Okay.  So, for example, if the ROE is 9.42 percent, then the company keeps all of that, until the ROE exceeds 9.42 percent, in which case the sharing mechanism kicks in. 

     MR. CHARLESON:  That's right.  And the ROE has been established -- it's my understanding that the ROE has been established based on an understanding in terms of the expected risk and return and reward that the utility should receive on its distribution business, I believe.  

     And what we're -- what we are indicating here is that the risk on the revenue portion of transactional services is quite large, due to the uncertainty.  And that's why we don't believe it's appropriate for there to be a guarantee in the first piece.  

     MR. DE VELLIS:  Right.  But in order for your example -- your comparison to be analogous, wouldn't there have to be a guaranteed amount of STS revenue embedded in rates?  The company has a guaranteed amount for return on equity before the sharing mechanism kicks in. 

     MR. CHARLESON:  But is that guaranteed amount not provided to the shareholders?   Or are you suggesting that the sharing mechanism should include a guaranteed shareholder portion, before the sharing kicks in? 

     MR. DE VELLIS:  No.  My question is, the return on equity -- the company is allowed a return on equity, in this case, 9.42 percent.  There is no sharing of that until you reach 9.42 percent.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  No.  The company is -- I guess the way -- I'm trying to work the analogy with you, here.  I would agree that, in essence, the return on equity provides a threshold guarantee, in terms of the earnings that the company is allowed to earn before it's deemed to have been, you know, earned in excess.  The company is at risk for under -- any - my mouth’s gone --any under-earnings, below that ROE level.  

     So assume that the ROE allows a return -- or translates into $100 million:  if, from conducting the business over the course of the year, the company only earns enough that it is at $90 million, well then it has under-earned on its ROE and is at loss for that $10 million.  

     If we extend that analogy to, say, the transactional-services sharing, that would, in essence, say, Well we're going to guarantee to the company that it should get, say, $4 million from transactional services revenue.  However -- and then anything beyond that, it should be sharing with the -- with ratepayers, on a 50:50 basis.  

     If you earn less than the $8 million, well, you're going to under-earn on what we indicated would be approved.  

     But, again, we don't believe that it’s appropriate that the shareholder should be guaranteed something from TS revenue out of the gate, and sharing should start just from an equal footing, beyond the recovery of the cost of operating.  

     MR. DE VELLIS:  Those are my questions.  Thank you, Mr. Charleson. 

     Thank you, Madam Chair. 

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. De Vellis.  

     We will now take a break for lunch, and we will resume at 1:30.  

     --- Luncheon recess taken at 12:15 p.m.


‑‑‑ On resuming at 1:33 p.m.


MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.  Are there any preliminary matters?


PRELIMINARY MATTERS:

MR. O'LEARY:  Yes, Madam Chair.  Just a housekeeping matter.  Earlier today, the company circulated, of today's date under cover letter ‑ I understand it went out under e‑mail, as well ‑ a copy of the curriculum vitaes of the witnesses that will be appearing tomorrow in respect of the EnVision panel, including Ms. Holder, Ms. McCowan, Mr. Pleckaitis and Mr. Bruce, and we have put copies of that letter, covering letter, and the curriculum vitae at the back of the room for intervenors and copies are here for the Board, as well.


In addition to that, and it wasn't attached to the e‑mail, is also a summary of the experience and the qualifications of HLB Decision Economics Inc., which is something that Mr. Bruce will speak to, as well, tomorrow, and copies of that have also been left at the back of the room.


I would appreciate, Madam Chair, for the HLB Decision Economics CV being given an exhibit number, because I don't believe -- because it was not attached to the filing, that it has formally been recorded as an exhibit and would appreciate granting one now.


MS. NOWINA:  Okay.  Will you do that, Mr. Battista?


MR. BATTISTA:  We will give that Exhibit No. K2.4.

EXHIBIT NO. K2.4:  SUMMARY OF QUALIFICATIONS AND EXPERIENCE OF HLB DECISION ECONOMICS INC

MR. BATTISTA:  How would you like to describe that?


MR. O'LEARY:  It is the summary of the qualifications and experience of HLB Decision Economics Inc.  It's two pages.  And I am reminded, also, that Mr. Lloyd Kyote will also be on the EnVision panel tomorrow, and his CV has already been filed with the pre-filed evidence.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. O'Leary.  Any further preliminary matters?  Mr. Thompson, are you ready to proceed with your cross‑examination?


ENBRIDGE GAS DISTRIBUTION INC. PANEL 1; RESUMED

Don Small; Previously Sworn

Dave Charleson; Previously Sworn

CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MR. THOMPSON:

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  Thank you, Madam Chair.  At the outset, I did leave on the dias of the panel members, as well as distributed, two aids to cross that I would like to have marked.  The first is an excerpt from the Board's decision in EBRO492.   That's a decision dated September 10, 1996.  The first page has a heading at the top left-hand corner "Transactional Services".  Can I have that marked, please?


MR. BATTISTA:  That will be marked as K2.5, described EBRO492 regarding transactional services.

EXHIBIT NO. K2.5:  EBRO492 REGARDING TRANSACTIONAL SERVICES


MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.  The second excerpt is from the Board's recent RP-2003‑203 decision.  Again, it's the transactional services portion of that decision.  Can I have that marked, please?


MR. BATTISTA:  That will be marked as K2.6.

EXHIBIT NO. K2.6:  RP-2003‑2003 REGARDING TRANSACTIONAL SERVICES

MR. BATTISTA:  EBRO2003 ‑‑


MR. THOMPSON:  Sorry.


MR. BATTISTA:  RP-2003‑2003 regarding transactional services.


MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Thompson, you mentioned a date associated with K2.5.  What is the date?


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  It's November 1, 2004.  What I would like to do, panel, witness panel, is start with questions on portions of your evidence in‑chief this morning, and then move to a cross on the pre-filed material.


So if I could start with the discussion in‑chief this morning and, in particular, with respect to Exhibit K2.1 entitled "TS Unwinding Costs, Fiscal 2005".  Do you have that in front of you?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, I do.


MR. THOMPSON:  I would like to get these unwinding costs into perspective and provide the context in which they arose.


I suggest that the appropriate starting point for this discussion is the evidence of the company in the TS proceeding, which is at tab 4 of the VECC brief, which I believe is Exhibit K2.2.  Do you have that?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, I do.


MR. THOMPSON:  And if you go to the text beginning at paragraph 17 and continuing on through to paragraph 23, you will find, there the company's evidence in that proceeding pertaining to concerns that IGUA had raised in a letter of February 25, 2005 related to the impact of TS activities on the curtailment of interruptible customers.  Is that fair?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, that's fair.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And the concern that IGUA members had was that some of its members were being curtailed while EGS was using EGD's assets for TS purposes.  Is that a fair paraphrase of the concern?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, that's my understanding of IGUA's concern.


MR. THOMPSON:  And EGD's response to those concerns is contained in paragraph 17 through to 21 -- well, really through to 23, inclusive, but it is paragraph 21 I wanted to direct your attention to, because it is in this paragraph that the company said, and I'm again paraphrasing:  EGD is not aware of any evidence that would indicate that interruptible customers have been impacted negatively in any way due to TS activities.  


Do you see that sentence?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, I do.


MR. THOMPSON:  Would you agree that that sentence prompted some questions from IGUA pertaining to the curtailments of interruptible customers at times when TS activities were taking place, and those questions we find at ‑‑ and EGD's responses we find at tab 6 of the VECC brief.  These are IGUA Interrogatories 9 and 10 in the TS proceeding.  


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  And the responses to those questions, EGD's responses to those questions, then triggered a supplementary filing of evidence by IGUA pertaining to what appeared to be curtailments during occasions of TS activities, and that, in turn, prompted some reply evidence from Enbridge Gas Distribution with respect to those incidents.  Do you recall that?


MR. CHARLESON:  I'm trying to ‑‑ yes, that's correct.  I'm just trying to recall the --


MR. THOMPSON:  We listed each of the ones that we thought represented a TS activity and a curtailment, and then you provided some reply evidence responding to each one of those instances?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And it was as a result of that evidentiary exchange, I suggest, that we learned that there were, in fact, TS transactions taking place on a firm basis during periods of curtailment and, in fact, some TS transactions taking place on a firm basis during periods of no curtailment, but those transactions had an effect on all of the customers, not just interruptible?


MR. CHARLESON:  I'm sorry, I'm not sure what you mean by having had an effect on all customers.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, the unwinding ‑‑ what I'm trying to come to is the unwinding costs that you're showing in Exhibit K2.1 do not relate to the unwinding of curtailments during TS activities.  They relate to the unwinding of TS transactions that would, if not unwound, impair your service to firm customers?

MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, that's correct.  The 5.3 million dollars in transaction revenue was related to transactions that, a portion of needed to be unwound, so that customers would not be negatively impacted by those TS deals.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  And the requirement that customers not be negatively impacted, both firm and interruptible customers, was reflected in the services agreement that you had with EGS for -- in --

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, that's correct. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  -- in one place, and I think that’s referred to in your evidence in the TS case.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, it is.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  But in addition, I suggest to you that that requirement was reflected in the Board's EBRO 492 decision, which was the first adjudication with respect to the company's proposal to offer TS service.  And in particular, I would draw your attention to the section of the excerpt that I have provided to you dealing with the Board findings, which starts at page 60 of Exhibit K2.5.  And there you will see - and I will just highlight this - in paragraph 3.3.2.7, the second sentence, where the Board notes:

“While persuaded that it is reasonable to utilize these facilities, to the extent they are not required to serve the in-franchise customers ..." 

     The Board then went on to express a concern about market-based contracts that you were proposing.  

     And then, in the following paragraph, in the second sentence, the Board stated: 

“The company should structure the contracts for the sale of transactional services so as to ensure that the use of utility assets by

ex-franchise purchasers does not result in increased costs to ratepayers.”

     And that's the concept, I suggest, that led to the provision in your agreement with EGS that this was not to affect customers, and that's the concept that drove the unwinding-costs incurrence that is described in K2.1; is that fair? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, I would agree with that.  The unwinding costs were undertaken so that we would ensure that the transactions that were put in place would not lead to -- and not only not lead to an unacceptable increase in gas costs to system-gas customers, but that there would be no increase in gas costs for system-gas customers. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  And so can you just give us an example for each of the line items in K2.1?  First of all, you have term storage:  what does that mean?

     MR. CHARLESON:  Okay, so, as I described this morning, term storage would be where, during the month of November we accepted injections from a counter-party.  They were looking -- they needed to store some gas, so we accepted injections over the month of November, for that gas to be withdrawn either in December or January.  

     And those transactions would have been entered into utilizing storage space that would have started to free up as we got into -- as we started to get into the heating season.  So there's a general expectation that that storage space is going to be available and as long as they have withdrawn that gas prior to us getting back into an injection cycle, that space is otherwise unused.       

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So this is where you thought you had some excess storage for injections in a certain time frame, and withdrawal in a certain time-frame, excess to the requirements of your in-franchise customers? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  That's right.  And as a result of believing we had that, we entered into firm deals for that. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  So you sold that on a firm basis to some TS customer.  And then you discovered, I guess, as you were approaching those time frames, that you needed that storage for in-franchise customers; is that correct? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  During the -- we needed a portion of that storage and, I think as I indicated earlier this morning, the total deals -- there's a number of deals that were involved in the, say, that $5.3 million in revenue, which accounted for 250,000 gJs a day of capacity.  Of that, there is about 130,000 gJs of capacity that became -- that was required for a two- to three-day period during the month of November to meet the needs of system-gas customers.  And so, as a result, we incurred the costs that are identified -- one of the costs that are identified here to, in effect, make that capacity available.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well let's just track it through.  So, had you not had to unwind, you would have made 5,310,000, in aggregate, from these deals. 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Correct.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  And then things happened at various times, so that, in aggregate, you had to unwind these deals.  And just give us -- and what's involved in the unwinding? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  In this case, with the unwinding, it would be going to the market and finding alternate storage capacity.  

     So going to the secondary market and, basically, looking to do a short-term deal similar to what these other counter-parties were doing with us.  We would put a similar transaction in place to acquire storage for two to three days or whatever -- you know, whatever the time-frame required was, and, in essence, provided us with the ability to park the gas until we needed to use it within our franchise area.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  And so, if I am understanding what happens then, of the 2,699,250 you're receiving from the TS customer with whom you made a firm deal, you had to use that money, plus an additional 647,250 to keep your in-franchise customers from being harmed.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  No, I don't think that’s an accurate representation. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  How does that work, then? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  What -- how it works is the $2.7 million represents the proportion of the 5.3 million that’s associated with the 130,000 gJs a day.  So that's the revenue that we were getting for the portion of the storage deal that we needed to unwind.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  It cost us -- the 647,250 is what it cost us to acquire that capacity, the 130,000 gJs of capacity for that two- to three-day period.  So, if we looked at the total 5.3 million in revenue that went to the TS account, you would end up back subtracting the 647,250 from that number, to arrive at the net revenue that was received from the total bundle of storage deals that were in place during that time-period.  

     The reason why we show the net benefit as the 2 million is because we tried -- initially, we tried to zero in just on the deals -- or the extent -- or the value of the deals that had to be unwound.  So there was an apples-to-apples comparison, in terms of, there was 130,000 gJs of capacity that was contracted in revenue that we were getting from that.  We had to incur costs to replace that capacity on a short-term basis, but the net result of having the original deal in place and having to replace that capacity still left $2 million to the -- you know, to the TS account.  

     The reason for showing the $5.3 million was to emphasize that, if we weren't able to operate in a manner that allowed us to undertake these unwinding transactions, we wouldn't have been able to put any of that $5.3 million on to the books.   So the total $5.3 million initial revenue wouldn't have been booked.  We wouldn't have incurred the 647,000 in unwinding costs, but, in essence, the TS account would have been -- would have had $4.7 million less in it.  

     So there was a total benefit of being able to operate in this manner to the -- to TS activity of $4.7 million.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Let me just pursue that for a moment.  You could have done the term-storage transactions of $5.310 million on an interruptible-TS basis.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  But the value that you would have received for that would have been significantly less. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, it would be less, but it wouldn't be zero.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  It wouldn't have been zero, but it would have been significantly less, both -- from two perspectives.  One, some of the transactions that we had looked to enter into, parties would not agree to do on an interruptible basis.  And the ‑‑ our experience would tell us that if you're looking at an interruptible transaction, you may receive about 25 percent of the value of a firm deal.  So there is a significant difference between a firm and an interruptible transaction.


MR. THOMPSON:  Am I correct that at one point in this TS history, the TS contracts were interruptible?


MR. CHARLESON:  I'm not familiar with the history enough ‑‑


MR. THOMPSON:  You don't go back that far?


MR. CHARLESON:  I don't go back that far, no.


MR. THOMPSON:  In any event, I suggest it wouldn't be zero.  I agree with you it would be less interruptible, but not zero.  So some of 5.3 could have been on the books on an interruptible basis, but based on what you have told me, the net benefit in the last column is the ‑‑ is the second column minus the third column?


MR. CHARLESON:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  Now, the M12 transportation, again, just give us an example of what happened here.


MR. CHARLESON:  Okay.  So for the M12 transportation, again, market conditions, weather conditions would have indicated that it would appear that we had some M12 transportation capacity that wasn't going to be utilized on a number of days, and these would tend to be more one- or two-day deals.  These are short‑term deals.


The deal would have been put in place and, again, as the day approached ‑‑ as you got closer to the actual day or on the actual day, demand had changed ‑‑ demand changed and there was a need to replace that capacity.  Now, replacing that capacity may have been done either by contracting ‑‑ going to the secondary market and contracting for some additional ‑‑ for transportation capacity that's equivalent, or contracting for some delivered supply within the franchise area so that you weren't having to move the gas, but, in essence, contracting in a manner that it enabled the gas that was required or that would have moved over that M12 capacity to be in the franchise area when it was needed.


MR. THOMPSON:  And is this one transaction or, again, an aggregate of transactions?


MR. CHARLESON:  This I think were two deals associated.  There were two transactions.


MR. THOMPSON:  And the bottom line here is the unwinding costs exceeded the revenue from the transaction to be unwound?


MR. CHARLESON:  That's right.  If we look just solely at those transactions, there was a loss, in terms of the impact of those deals.


What this doesn't reflect is necessarily all of the firm M12 transactions that we would do over the winter, and, again, if we had to enter into all of those on an interruptible basis, I would suggest that the loss that we would end up taking would be ‑‑ or the impact on the TS account would be significantly higher than the $1,000 that is shown here.


MR. THOMPSON:  Sorry, the negative impact on the TS account?


MR. CHARLESON:  The reduction in the revenues between a firm transaction and interruptible transactions.  So let's assume ‑‑ we do a number of M12 transactions over the course of the winter.  We do enter into them on a firm basis.  If we had ‑‑ if we had done, say, $50,000 worth of transactions on a firm basis, our experience would indicate that that may only be $12,000 in revenue on an interruptible basis.


So there is a $38,000 reduction to the revenues that would have been booked to the TS account if we ended up having to do all of our ‑‑ and, again, those are indicative.  Those are just numbers, for example, not necessarily the true value of the M12 deals that we would have done over the course of the winter.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  That's a comment in response to a question I didn't ask.


What you're saying is, had we done these deals on M12 on an interruptible rather than firm basis, the revenue received would have been less?


MR. CHARLESON:  That's correct.  I just wanted to try to ensure there was a clear understanding.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And then finally, the TCPL transportation.


MR. CHARLESON:  Again, these are similar to the M12 transportation deals.  In this case, I think as I indicated this morning, there were five deals involved.  But, again, our operating conditions indicated that it appeared we would have some TCPL transportation capacity that wasn't going to be required to meet system gas customer ‑‑ or to meet the overall distribution gas customer needs for certain days.


Firm TS deals were entered into to try to obtain value for those.  As the days approached or as the day arrived, conditions changed where that capacity was needed, so alternate arrangements were made to, again, replace that capacity.  And, in this case, because of the shifts in the market conditions, we were actually able to replace the capacity at a lower cost than what we were ‑‑ what we sold it for initially.  So there was still a gain, in essence, from doing no deal.


So we entered into a deal.  We unwound the deal or did a replacement deal to unwind the impact, and ended up receiving some benefit that was flowed to the TS account.


MR. THOMPSON:  Let's move from the unwinding costs in K2.1 to the unwinding costs with which my client was concerned, which was costs that were, in effect, not being incurred to prevent curtailments from taking place.


Just to illustrate this by way of an example, if you would go to Mr. ‑‑ sorry, the VECC K2.2 at tab 6, and if you go into the response to IGUA Interrogatory No. 10 on the second page.


One of the transactions or two of the transactions with which we had concerns, and which indicated to us curtailments were taking place when TS was taking place, were those on the 19th and 20th of February, where you had some Union M12 curtailed and ‑‑ sorry, Union M12 being sold on a firm basis in the TS activity, and you had curtailments in the CDA on those two dates.


Would you agree that was one of the instances that concerned us?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, I would agree that was one of the instances that IGUA was concerned with and that we provided a response to.


MR. THOMPSON:  And is it fair to say that as a result of ‑‑ well, let me back up.


This information that is compiled in response to these interrogatories came via EGS; am I correct?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, that's correct.  Since Enbridge Gas Services was our agent for administering the TS activity, they provided this information to us.


MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  And is it fair to say that EGD was somewhat surprised to find that there were TS activities taking place on days that -- for curtailment in the CDA?


MR. CHARLESON:  I would agree that I was a little surprised.  I don't know whether somewhat or a little is ‑‑ is the right word.  But, yes, it was surprising to see some of those transactions.  And once I saw that, I immediately asked gas services to be looking at those transactions and be able to explain the circumstances surrounding those.  And based on the responses that they have provided, I was completely satisfied that they were acting in accordance with the service agreement.


MR. THOMPSON:  And moving on, would you agree that what was indicated as a result of our involvement in this case, the TS case, was that, for example, a notice of curtailment would go out to rate 170 customers for a three-day or a five-day or a certain period of days of curtailment?  That's the way curtailment notices were handled?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  I think in our previous discussions, through the TS, we called those extended periods of curtailment.


MR. THOMPSON:  Correct, extended periods of curtailment.


And that, again, was based on a forecast that curtailment would be required, and then, if it turned out curtailment was not required, curtailment was not, if I can say, suspended.  It carried on, and any excess capacity may well have been used to support TS activities.  That's what we discovered in this process?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  The practice that we've seen is, from ‑‑ and this, again, comes from working with our interruptible customers and having ‑‑ and understanding some of the challenges that they face during periods of curtailment.  It had been our experience that when we were in an extended period of curtailment, that returning customers for a day only to go back -- have to switch back off gas again the following day was a point of frustration for customers.   

     And what we -- as a practice what we looked to do was, during an extended period of curtailment, if a -- if we were in a situation where a customer may only be able to be returned for that one day, we didn't return them from curtailment.  And so, as a result, the capacity was available and we believed it was in the best interests of all ratepayers that we make use of that capacity for transactional services.  

     Again, it didn't lead to the instance of curtailment for the interruptible customers, and the methods that we were following and the approach we were taking was taken in the interests of our interruptible customers, based on our knowledge in discussions with those customers.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Sorry, I'm not aware that you ever made offers to return customers during periods of curtailment, or there ever was a practice to that effect.  Was there?  My understanding was extended periods of curtailment were not interrupted -- 

     MR. CHARLESON:  There was no offer made to the customers during that period.  However, we do talk to our customers during curtailment.  We would talk to -- and we have had customers express concerns to us about having to return for one day, and the difficulties in switching from oil to -- or, from gas to oil, and then back to gas, switching their equipment back and forth.  

     And so it has -- again, our account execs have regular discussions with our interruptible customers.  We would like to think we have a strong understanding of the way that they operate their businesses and the way -- some of the challenges that they face.  And it’s based on that experience and understanding of our customers that we make these decisions.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  I'm sure some my members would be interested to read that transcript.  But the people that are on gas, if they want to remain on gas, their option is to take CDS curtailed-delivery service from the company, correct? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, that's correct. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  And if they're a 170 customer, the curtailed-delivery service is more expensive than the rate-170 delivery rate for large volumes?  Would you take that, subject to check? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  No, you're right:  the CDS service is higher than the rate-170 distribution rate.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  And to take CDS service, they have to acquire their own gas in the high-priced commodity market when they're curtailed.  And that is, generally, substantially higher than what they are receiving from the company for their direct-purchase gas; correct? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, I would say, generally, that price -- the spot price on a day you may be looking for CDS would likely be higher than the capacity-repurchase credit. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  And for a large customer this having to switch to CDS, plus buy gas that they need in the spot market on the days of curtailment, that could amount to hundreds of thousands of dollars over the course of three days. 

     MR. CHARLESON:  That's correct.  It could amount to a more significant cost.  However, also, given that it's during an extended period of curtailment, there is the potential that a customer has made arrangements for five days’ worth of supply with a marketer, and may not be able to undo that purchase of their CDS gas.   This is, however -- we have accepted that there are, potentially, some alternatives we need to look at with regards to the manner in which we deal with these extended periods of curtailment, and the TS me methodology that's found in tab 9 of the VECC materials identifies the -- what we have agreed to undertake to try to address this concern that IGUA is expressing.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  But to the extent that these customers had to incur the higher CDS delivery rate, plus the

spot-market prices for gas in these periods of extended curtailment, those cost impacts on those customers were not unwound by EGD.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  No, that's correct.  But also, interruptible customers understand that, for the lower distribution rate that they pay, that they may be curtailed, and that there are costs associated with it. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  But they also understand TS is not supposed to result in curtailment.  

     In any event, all I wanted to point out is, there are no costs in your unwinding costs on Exhibit K2.1 that were paid to interruptible customers who remained on CDS when the extended period of curtailment could have been, if you will, suspended.

     MR. CHARLESON:  That's correct.  However, the interruptible customers also received the benefit of any sharing of the TS revenues that were generated.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, in contrast to the hundreds of thousands they might have had to pay for a commodity, that might be very little.  Would you agree? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  I would say it’s difficult to assess, because we don't have sufficient evidence to demonstrate one way or the other.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, we can look at the allocation factor that applies to TS revenues, see what interruptibles get and divide it by the commodity.  I suggest it is going to be not a big deal.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  Potentially.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And what we’ve tried to do in the settlement agreement now, as you pointed out, is address that, where there is a commitment to -- by the company -- this is in, I guess it's the K2.3, I think it was, methodology for TS, that was the update to the tab 9 of Mr. -- of VECC's brief -- counsel for VECC's brief.  

     We’ve tried to address this with the returning rate-170 customers from curtailment provision -- from curtailment section of the methodology.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, that's correct.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, let's hope it works on a go-forward basis.  

     But the unwinding -- just dealing with 2005, and this deferral account clearance issue and the unwinding costs shown in K2.1 of 678,662, given that some interruptibles had to take the big hit on CDS service, is there any good reason why the 678,662 shouldn't come out of EI's share? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Should EI also get to retain the excess revenue that was generated from the firm transactions?  I would suggest, if the 678 should come out of EI's share, then perhaps the $2 million in revenue should also be left with EI, and I am sure they would agree to that.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well that's big of you. 

     Which brings me to another topic that you were talking about with -- I think it was in your evidence in-chief and maybe your cross-examination on your evidence in-chief.  You suggested -- you're talking about incentives, and the need for those administering TS to have some incentives.  Do you recall that discussion? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, I do.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  And what is the estimated payment that EI will get out of the 2005 TS pot?  Just round numbers.  Millions of dollars, I suspect.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  EI will receive $700,000, because they only receive the operating costs associated with performing transactional services.  The remaining share of the TSDA would be shared between ratepayers and Enbridge Gas Distribution.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Oh, sorry.  I meant EI in its capacity as owner of Enbridge Gas Distribution --  

     MR. CHARLESON:  Okay.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  -- I guess I should have said Enbridge Gas Distribution's share.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  Again, if we assume the current -- the forecast that was included in Board Staff Interrogatory No. 38, at -- which shows an estimate of $16 million, the share that would end up owing -- just give me a second.  

     So it would be $2 million plus 25 percent of $5.3 million -- a quarter of that, it's about 1.25.  So, say, about 3.3 million, very rough calculations.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Now, how much of that finds its way into the pockets of those administering TS? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Well, on top of that there would still be the $700,000 that would go to the -- 

     MR. THOMPSON:  No, no, you talked about the individuals having to be incented with something by way of compensation.  I'm suggesting a very small amount of that filters down to the people that actually do the work.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  I would agree.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  And so the big beneficiary of the existing regime is not the people who do the work.  It's Enbridge Inc. as shareholder of EGD?


MR. CHARLESON:  And I would agree that a lot of the ‑‑ or I would comment that a lot of the people that do the work are also shareholders of Enbridge Gas Distribution and Enbridge Inc., and so increasing the value and the strength of the organization is -- also has a corresponding benefit to them.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  You mentioned this morning, as well, in‑chief, that you weren't pursuing the parties anymore in connection with the TS methodology.  That's what I noted.  I don't know ‑‑ was that what you said?


MR. CHARLESON:  I think that might have been the word I used.  We won't be out door-knocking.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Were you out door-knocking before, or was EGS out door-knocking before?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  And prior to it being moved to Enbridge Gas Services, when it was still being done within Enbridge Gas Distribution, a large part of that business was contacting counter-parties and, you know, looking for opportunities and discussing specific assets and opportunities with those counter-parties.


MR. THOMPSON:  I had understood that this kind of activity was wrapped up in the phrase "unsolicited opportunities".  Is that the buzzword that applies to it?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  And I think in discussions during the transactional services proceeding, we took it even further and talked about inbound and outbound unsolicited opportunities.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Okay.


MR. CHARLESON:  And what I'm talking about is the outbound unsolicited opportunities where we would go out and try to solicit interest and generate interest for specific assets.


MR. THOMPSON:  So the point you were making this morning is that you have agreed there would be no more outbound unsolicited opportunities?  Is that part of the deal?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Then as far as inbound unsolicited opportunities, they are covered by the provisions of the methodology appearing in appendix 1 that's in the third‑last page?  These inbound unsolicited are allowed within some constraints?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  So not everything has to take place over the screen, is the way ‑‑


MR. CHARLESON:  No.  The opportunity for these inbound unsolicited opportunities was something we felt was important, that it was maintained within the methodology, the difference being that these ‑‑ these transactions can't occur until after the auction process is completed.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Let's move, then, to your position on the pre-filed -‑ your position in the pre-filed testimony.  We've had a lot of discussion about that with counsel for VECC, so I will try not to duplicate what you've discussed this morning.


But the company's position, as I understand it, is that you need ‑‑ you're urging the Board to re-visit the regulatory treatment of TS in this case because of uncertainty; is that fair?


MR. CHARLESON:  I would say that's the principal driver behind it, is there is a lot of uncertainty regarding the market, uncertainty regarding the future revenue opportunities, and that's the principal driver behind why we believe there is a need to reconsider the sharing mechanism.


MR. THOMPSON:  And the uncertainties are, you indicate, I believe, tied to -- primarily to the new TS methodology?


MR. CHARLESON:  I think there was a much more extensive list than that that we discussed this morning.


MR. THOMPSON:  And other factors, but it's uncertainty in your ability to forecast TS revenue; is that what we're talking about?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  And your proposal, as I understand it, is that the marginal O&M, which is currently a risk to the shareholder, be shifted to the ratepayers?  That's the 800,000.


MR. CHARLESON:  I'm not sure why you see that as being shifted from the shareholder to the ratepayer.  If you eliminate the -- say, the guarantee to ratepayers, the marginal O&M would be the next costs that are recovered.  So I guess what we're saying is remove the guarantee and deal with the marginal O&M costs first.  It may be just semantics, but ...

     MR. THOMPSON:  Let me try and walk you through the way I see it.  Right now, ratepayers have 8 million embedded in rates; right?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, you're right, the shareholders at risk for $8 million.


MR. THOMPSON:  So you're at risk for 8 million and at risk for the marginal O&M.  In other words, if there is less than 8 million recovered, the shareholder eats the difference between what's recovered and the 8 million plus the marginal O&M; right?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, I would agree the shareholder bears a significant risk related to this program.


MR. THOMPSON:  But the risk for the marginal O&M, based on that analysis, I suggest, rests with the shareholder.  It's the first tranche out of sharing, but it's still ‑‑


MR. CHARLESON:  That's true, yes.  If you have no revenue, the shareholder will be having to ‑‑


MR. THOMPSON:  So the first feature of your proposal is to shift that.  You're putting that now into the cost of service, and you're putting it in there as a reduction to transactional services?


MR. CHARLESON:  We're reflecting it as a reduction to other service revenues so that it is fairly recovered.


MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  Would you take, subject to check, that the 800,000 is shown in Exhibit C, tab 1, schedule 1, page 2 of 3 at line 11?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, I will.


MR. THOMPSON:  So that if we left the risk of the 800,000 where it currently rests with the shareholder, other revenue would go up by $800,000?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So that's feature 1 of your proposal?


Then the second feature of your proposal is now nothing is embedded in rates?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  And so your proposal, I would suggest to you, has removed all risk on the shareholder.


MR. CHARLESON:  I would say it has removed the risk related to that, to the TS guarantee, yes.  I would agree. 


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, the shareholder gets a return on all of the assets that are being used.  That's embedded in rates.  It no longer is taking the risk of the O&M and it no longer has the risk associated with an embedded amount in rates.  So there is no risk to the shareholder under your proposal?


MR. CHARLESON:  I would agree that's the case, and we believe that that puts it in a situation where there is a fair sharing of the earnings that are achieved.


MR. THOMPSON:  So you've eliminated the risk, and now your proposal is somehow the shareholder is entitled to an increased share of the revenues up to 50 percent of every dollar.  Is that ‑‑


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, on the assumption ‑‑ a lot of that is based on our expectation that the revenues that we will be able to generate from transactional services have been negatively impacted and that for there to be, you know, for lack of a better term, a meaningful incentive; that the 50:50 sharing is appropriate and that it's not inconsistent with what's been deemed appropriate in other jurisdictions.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, let's just contrast your proposal to predecessor TS regimes upon which the Board adjudicated.


You talk about this in your response to CCC No. 5, which I think is one of the ‑‑ one of the documents found at tab 3 of K2.2, the brief of VECC.


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, I have that.


MR. THOMPSON:  It sort of gives us the history of TS, and this brings me to EBRO 492, Exhibit K2.5.


Would you agree with me that K2.5 was the first case in which the company made this TS revenue sharing proposal?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, I would.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And let's just check the facts in that particular case, and if you go to page 55, paragraph 3.3.5, in that particular case you were proposing a small amount.  You were forecasting revenues of approximately $1.2 million.  Correct? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  And you proposed to embed 600,000 in rates, allocate 2 million to shareholders and absorb 4 million in associated O&M costs.  And then you had -- you were proposing 50:50 sharing in excess of forecast.  Is that a fair paraphrase of the proposal? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  There was $6 million in revenues for ratepayers, .2 million for the shareholders and .4 million in O&M costs.  And then 50:50 beyond that.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  It was on that -- so this is a case involving a relatively low forecast of TS revenues, considerably lower than your best guess of 5 to 8 million in this case; right? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, I would agree.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And the Board, in responding to that proposal, indicated, at paragraph 3.3.29, page 61, as follows:

“The Board approves the transactional services deferral account given the uncertainty involved in the forecast revenues associated with this service.”  

     Just stopping there.  There was uncertainty then and you're saying there’s uncertainty today.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, that's correct.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Then it goes on:

“The Board does not agree that an incentive to provide these services should be necessary, and notes that the company has offered both peak and off-peak storage, along with assignments and exchanges, in prior years, without the need for an incentive.”  

     Do you confirm those facts, that the company --

     MR. CHARLESON:  I concur --

     MR. THOMPSON:  -- has done this before --  

     MR. CHARLESON:  -- that it was being done before and that there was no incentive. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Right.

     MR. CHARLESON:  Whether there’s a need or not --

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay. 

     MR. CHARLESON:  -- could be open for debate.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well you did indicate to counsel for VECC that the company is obliged to -- as a public utility, is obliged to act in the best interests of its customers, without incentives.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  I would agree.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And then the Board went on:  

“However, the Board acknowledges that the company does incur some risk associated with its participation in these activities, and finds that a ten percent incentive will be adequate to address these modest additional risks.”  

     That's what the Board found when there was uncertainty involved, and a small amount being forecast as revenues from this activity.  The ten percent incentive would be adequate; correct? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  That's what they found in that proceeding based on the facts and information that was discussed in that proceeding.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  And then in the next paragraph the Board went on to apply the formula to the forecasts in that case, noted that no one disputed the $1.2 million forecast for this activity: 

“... and while the final level of activity in this account is uncertain, the use of a forecast generally reduces the inter-generational inequities that result from crediting the balance to cost of service in the subsequent year.” 

     Just stopping there, that's exactly what your current proposal creates; correct? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  I would agree that it leads to the credit balance being cleared in the subsequent year.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  And then the Board in this case used the 1.2 million as the revenue forecast, the 4 million as the direct costs associated with generating this level of revenue, and a 90 percent ratepayer proportion.  The amount then embedded was 700,000, rather than the 600,000 that you had forecast.  And the amount of the different embedded figure was reflected in cost of service.  

     Can you confirm that, in that particular case, the sharing above forecast was at 90:10? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, that would be the case.      

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And there was really no further decision from the Board on the subject of the TS sharing mechanism until last year's case.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  Other than the Board accepting the results of settlement proposals.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  And if I could just ask you to take, subject to check, in that context -- I didn't reproduce these, but I will just quickly run through some of them.  

     So for each case subsequent to 492 – EBRO492, and prior to RP-2003-0203, the TS sharing was the subject matter of a settlement proposal, and the Board accepted the proposals in each of the following cases - and I think that is what you tell us in CCC five? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  That's my understanding, yes.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  So just picking up the -- a couple of recent examples.  For example - and I ask you to take this subject to check - in the RP-2000-0040 decision, this is dated August the 17th, 2001, and I believe it’s for the 2001 test year.  

     This -- would you take, subject to check, that the amount embedded in rates was 90 percent of the forecast, and that the sharing ratio above forecast, in that particular case, was 75:25? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  I’ll accept that, subject to check.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  And a similar result in RP-2001-0032?  Would you take that, subject to check? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Subject to check.        

     MR. THOMPSON:  And then in RP-2002-0133, again, an agreement with respect to the TS revenues and sharing.  And would you take, subject to check -- it’s in section 3.1 of the settlement proposal, which you will find in the appendices of the decision, which is dated November 7, 2003.  And here, if you would take, subject to check, the approach that was adopted was to establish the embedded amount at 75 percent of forecast, which, in that particular case, happened to be $8 million.  The next tranche was to cover the O&M, which happened, in that case, to be $667,000.   The next 2 million went to ratepayers.  And then anything over the 10.67 million was 75:25.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, and the outcome of that settlement was reflected in our evidence, in Exhibit A2, tab 5, schedule 1, at paragraph 23.  So I can definitely agree to that.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And so that was the, if you will, sharing framework that had been agreed upon prior to RP-2003-0203, which is the decision for fiscal 2005, dated November 1, 2004.  And the excerpts I have provided to you, and they're marked as Exhibit K2.6.  Would you agree? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, I would agree that there has been settlements for all those.  Of course, the one thing you don’t -- we don't know is the rationale that was used to arrive at those settlements, and what trade-offs may have occurred during the settlement process to make those sharing mechanisms acceptable to the company and intervenors.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  And what happened in the RP-2003-0203 case was this issue of whether commodity transactions could be combined was raised.  And there was an issue with respect to credit risk, and then there was an issue of sharing in the event that the commodity –

combined-transactions commodity and non‑TS were disallowed.  Have I paraphrased that awkwardly, but fairly?


MR. CHARLESON:  I think fairly.


MR. THOMPSON:  The Board then, in its findings in this exhibit, K2.6, starting at page 25, dealt with this issue of the bundled commodity and then moved on to sharing.  It dealt with bundled commodity, then moved on to forecast and then to sharing; fair?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  And in paragraph 2.5.5, the Board rejected the bundled commodity transaction proposal?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  And so I suggest to you the Board's decision in that case, dealing with sharing, was dealing with the situation that currently prevails:  No bundled commodity allowed; correct?


MR. CHARLESON:  I'm not sure if I would characterize it that way.  I think the Board made the decision regarding whether bundled commodity should be allowed or not.  During the course of the proceeding, questions and different positions had been brought forward, but not with a strong evidentiary base towards different alternatives and different sharing proposals that may need to be considered as an outcome, and then arrived at what they believed was the appropriate sharing going forward.


You know, whether the two are completely connected or whether it was more the need to look at the sharing mechanism, um ...


MR. THOMPSON:  Let's look at what the Board said together, and maybe we can agree on what's happening here.  But if you look at paragraph 2.5.6, page 27, the Board states as follows:

"In this situation where the company is not engaged in bundled commodity transactions ..." 


Just stopping there, that's where we are today; right?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And the company, in the last case, had proposed a sharing mechanism such that ratepayers would have the guarantee of $4.5 million.  The next, 1.3, above that, would be to the account of the shareholder less O&M costs.


So in a scenario where the company was not engaged in bundled commodity transactions, the company proposal was to embed an amount in rates; correct?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, at that point in time that was the position of the company.


MR. THOMPSON:  And you've now changed your mind on that?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  And the amount to be embedded in rates was 75 percent of the forecast that you were making in the context of the unbundled ‑‑ sorry, in the context of not being permitted to engage in bundled commodity transactions?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, that's correct.  But it also was being made with an expectation that transactional services would be continuing to be offered in the manner they were being offered otherwise.


MR. THOMPSON:  The next paragraph, the Board then describes what I suggest is the current Board-approved approach in the context of a situation where the company is not engaged in bundled commodity transactions.  Here the Board states:  

"The Board notes that the appropriate sharing mechanism for transactional services should be based on a reasonable and well-defended gross margin budget:  75 percent of the budget guaranteed to ratepayers, the next 25 percent to the account of the shareholder who deducts O&M costs, and the remainder shared 75:25 percent in favour of the ratepayers."


That's what the Board says?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, I would agree, and then they further go on to rationalize that decision being based -- at least from my read of it, being due to there being little clear evidence supporting the positions of any party.  There was different alternatives that were being floated around, different positions that were being taken, and in the absence of clear evidence regarding those positions, the Board approved the continuation of the sharing mechanism that was currently in place.


MR. THOMPSON:  But whether we go back to 492 when the Board first adjudicated on this subject, or we go to last year's case when it last adjudicated on this subject, there are two constants:  One, there is an amount embedded in rates; correct?


MR. CHARLESON:  I would agree.


MR. THOMPSON:  And the amount embedded in rates is a percent of a reasonable forecast?


MR. CHARLESON:  I would agree.


MR. THOMPSON:  And, second, the risk for marginal O&M costs is the shareholders' risk, not the ratepayers' risk?


MR. CHARLESON:  I would agree that's the manner in which it's been treated in these past decisions.


MR. THOMPSON:  And for that, for taking those risks, the shareholder is entitled to a share of TS revenues.  Would you agree that's the rationale?


MR. CHARLESON:  I would say that was the rationale in the EBRO 492 decision.  The Board hasn't provided rationale in terms of the reasons why the shareholder received the 25 percent in the RP-2003‑0203 decision.


MR. THOMPSON:  The rationale for all of the settlements in between 492 and 2002‑0133 was just that, I suggest.


MR. CHARLESON:  Without reading ‑‑


MR. THOMPSON:  The shareholder takes some risks with the embedding of an amount in rates and taking on the risk of O&M, for which it gets some return?


MR. CHARLESON:  I can't comment on the rationale behind or as to what underpinned those prior settlement agreements.


MR. THOMPSON:  Normally, you don't get a return if you don't take some risks; fair?


MR. CHARLESON:  I would agree that's fair.


MR. THOMPSON:  So I suggest to you if your proposition where the shareholder has no risks prevails, then your share of TS revenues should be zero.  All of it should go to the ratepayer; right?


MR. CHARLESON:  I guess the difficulty I have with that is in terms ‑‑ is in terms of the incentive to do TS at all, other than in a line operation function, if I could discuss ‑‑ like, we discussed this morning where you have somebody that is going to go there and they will try to get what value they can for the assets, but in terms of attracting management attention, in terms of trying to operate the system in a way that, say, extends beyond what would be normal operating practice or reasonable operating practice is -- you know, I think the company may turn its attention elsewhere.


MR. THOMPSON:  I suggest to you that if the company -- company's shareholder takes the risk of O&M only, which would be 800,000 in this case, that its share of TS revenues should be minimal, less than 10 percent, which was the rate in 492 where it took some ‑‑ the company took some risks of O&M and an embedded amount.  Would you agree?


MR. CHARLESON:  Our position is, and as we've put it forward in our evidence, we believe a fair sharing is what we've identified within our evidence.


MR. THOMPSON:  With no risk?


MR. CHARLESON:  We believe what's in the evidence is fair and consistent with what's seen in other jurisdictions.


MR. THOMPSON:  My last question is just on the mathematics.  Well, maybe it is not my last question.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Thompson, how close is it to your last question?


MR. THOMPSON:  Three minutes to my last question.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


MR. THOMPSON:  Don't hold me to it.  Give me at least five.  It's very close, Madam Chair.


Your best guess, 5 million; right?


MR. CHARLESON:  Our best guess is a range of $5 to $8 million.


MR. THOMPSON:  So can I conclude, your best guess is ‑‑ is your best guess anything other than the uncertain forecasts that we were dealing with in all of these cases?  TS revenues are difficult to forecast?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, I would agree.  And throughout the years, there's always been a challenge in terms of trying to forecast what the revenues would be, and I believe over the past number of years forecasts haven't really been provided and it is because of the uncertainty.  It's just what we see in this case, is there is a number of new factors that are increasing that degree of uncertainty and leads us to where we're at today.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  So the low end of your best-guess range is five.  Can we conclude that it's reasonably probable you’ll get five? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  It's reasonably probable.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  And so we can do the math.  If that's a low amount, and the Board -- well, how would you rate the eight?  Is that still in the range of reasonable probability? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  I would say, given that it’s the top end of our -- of the range for our best guess, I would say it is more risky. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And the mid-point, is that within the range of reasonable probability? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  It's within the range.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And so if we use the 75 percent formula for embedment, if I can call it that - I don't know if there is such a word - we can do the math at those various numbers, as we can do it at 90:10.  

     But the point that I wanted to make was, with an amount embedded in rates being a percentage, either 75 percent or 90 of the forecast, that amount operates to reduce the delivery-related revenue deficiency, which, based on the settlement filing - which is still a moving target, as far as ROE is concerned - that number was $79.4 million.  

     The embedded amount reduces the revenue deficiency.   Correct? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, it does.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you very much.  

     Those are my questions.   I made it in three.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Thompson. 

     We will break now for a brief break, and be back by 3 o'clock, promptly, please.

--- Recess taken at 2:45 p.m.


‑‑‑ On resuming at 3:00 p.m.


MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.  Before we continue, are there any preliminary matters, Mr. Millar, Mr. O'Leary?


PRELIMINARY MATTERS:

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, one matter, Madam Chair.  I know that the Board is interested in seeing a complete schedule or at least a draft of a schedule of how all the panels will be appearing before you, and I had a chat with Mr. O'Leary on the break and earlier today, as well.  


I understand that there have been some meetings with the intervenors.  Of course the intervenors' input is necessary to get a feel for how long any particular panel might take.  And, as I understand it, there hasn't been a complete agreement reached as to what the schedule will be.  And Mr. O'Leary can correct me if I am wrong, but I understand that Mr. Hoey plans to produce a draft and circulate it amongst the intervenors to seek their input as to whether the time-lines are reasonable.


And he would endeavour to do that tomorrow, I believe, and then hopefully for Friday morning we would have something to present to the Board, assuming that some type of agreement, at least on a draft, can be reached with the intervenors.  So, Mr. O'Leary, is that accurate?  Is that how you ‑‑


MR. O'LEARY:  That's fair.  We were hoping that if something was produced and the intervenors had an opportunity, perhaps tomorrow morning, to then provide some input, then something in a more formalistic sense could be submitted to the Panel.


MS. NOWINA:  The Board would greatly appreciate that.  Anything the intervenors can do to work with Enbridge to get that together, we would appreciate it.  If we need to adjust it later, we can do that, but we need to have a starting point to work from.  Mr. Shepherd?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, Madam Chair.  I just want to jump in here.  The intervenors met yesterday for some hours after the hearing and split up responsibilities, and all of that sort of stuff, and did time assessments and things like that, and we met with the company this morning.  


I don't think it is fair to characterize it as an agreement.  I don't think we're negotiating the schedule in any way.  I think we simply advised them of how much time we thought was necessary for the individual panels, and I think that they're then responding on the basis of what their availability is, et cetera.  I just wanted to clarify that.


MS. NOWINA:  That's fine.  And, Mr. Battista, when we get to that, can you make sure it goes out to everyone?


MR. BATTISTA:  Yes.  It will be posted in the following day's ‑‑ or the afternoon, late afternoon's e‑mail as to the update, and that will give a complete overview, and, as suggested by the Chair, would be updated as circumstances develop.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Good point.  Mr. Sommerville makes a point.  In your e‑mail this afternoon, you may want to reference it so parties who aren't here know that it will be going out; that Enbridge is working on it.


MR. BATTISTA:  I will do that.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Any other matters?  Ms. DeMarco, were you going to do your cross‑examination now?


MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Just by way of preliminary matters, I have three documents that I believe you have ‑‑ or will have momentarily, and it's with apologies to the trees that I submit these documents.


The first is the full final order of the transactional services decision which is relevant, and a further update to the update on tabs 8 and 9 of VECC's Exhibit K2.2.


It's the Board's final order in EB-2005‑0244, and I'm wondering if that could be marked as an exhibit, and I believe ‑‑


MR. BATTISTA:  That will be marked as Exhibit K2.7, and it will be characterized as board final order, EB-2005-0244.


EXHIBIT NO. K2.7:  BOARD FINAL ORDER, EB-2005-0244


MS. DeMARCO:  Just by way of clarification, the only difference between what is filed in K2.3 and what is in K2.7 is the first three pages.


The second document I have is a schedule to the agency agreement or services schedule, which is the schedule to the agency agreement between Enbridge Inc. and the Consumers Gas Company, as such agreement was assigned to the Enbridge Gas Services.  So I am wondering if we can mark the schedule to the agency agreement of the services schedule as an exhibit.


MR. BATTISTA:  That will be exhibit ‑‑ the exhibit number will be K2.8, and it will be characterized as schedule to agency agreement.


EXHIBIT NO. K2.8:  SCHEDULE TO AGENCY AGREEMENT

MS. DeMARCO:  And the final document you have in front of you or should have in front of you is the agency agreement itself, and I will tell you, with great relief, that I will not be referring to this document, at all, but for the completeness of the record, in the event that anybody is concerned about the context in which the service schedule is read, I have included it and would ask that it be marked as an exhibit.


MR. BATTISTA:  This will be marked as exhibit K2.9, and it will be characterized as agency agreement.


EXHIBIT NO. K2.9:  AGENCY AGREEMENT

MR. O'LEARY:  Madam Chair, if I just might enquire in respect of K2.7.  I'm not certain whether the witnesses have been provided with a copy of that.


MS. DeMARCO:  I'm sorry.


MR. O'LEARY:  Do you have an extra copy?


MS. DeMARCO:  I do have copies.


MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you.


‑‑‑ Passes document out.


MS. DeMARCO:  Just to allay any concerns that Mr. O'Leary or the panel might have, I will not be referring to those first three pages, but they are and do alter the substance of the methodology slightly.  It's there for completeness, again.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.

ENBRIDGE GAS DISTRIBUTION INC. PANEL 1; RESUMED

Don Small; Previously Sworn

Dave Charleson; Previously Sworn

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS. DeMARCO:

MS. DeMARCO:  So with that preliminary matter out of the way, I will be focussing on two main areas for my questions.  The first is the substance and rate implications of the new Board-approved transactional services methodology, particularly those related to EGS, and the second are clarifications on a few elements of your direct evidence.


So let me start first with the substance of the changes.  If I can ask you to refer to K2.7, and specifically at what is labelled page 4 of 6 in the beginning portion of the document, the settlement agreement itself.  


MR. CHARLESON:  I have that.


MS. DeMARCO:  Under number 1, repatriation of all utility and non‑competitive services and functions from EGS to EGD, the second sentence of that first paragraph indicates:   

"All activities identified in the agency agreement between EGS and EGD described and provided in the evidence at Exhibit A, tab 4, schedules 1 and 3 and Exhibit C, tab 1, schedule 4, the agency agreement, that are identified as being performed by the service provider ('the Services') including without limitation all services related to transactional services that are currently being performed by EGS shall be performed by EGD."


It goes on to highlight certain functions which will continue to be performed by Enbridge Inc.; is that a fair assessment, Mr. Charleson?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, that is.  I think with regards to the services, the corporate services that are identified, the wording in the settlement agreement indicates that they may continue to receive the corporate services.  The company still has to make a final determination, in terms of the best approach to use under a repatriation scenario, but the opportunity for that is there.


MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you.  If I can ask you to now turn to what's now marked as Exhibit K2.8, what I would like to clarify is specifically what functions are being repatriated and which functions are no longer required.


So if we can start with the first page of that document, at clause 1.4, which indicates that:

"The service provider will provide the service recipient with a monthly update of the portfolio summary."


MR. CHARLESON:  That would be done by EGD, following repatriation.


MS. DeMARCO:  It's my understanding that EGD ‑‑


MR. CHARLESON:  Sorry.


MS. DeMARCO:  We will not be providing itself with a report; is that right? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  It's true, but we would have to provide it to Operational Services.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  Okay, so simply to operational services.  And that would be the same in 1.5? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  So there would be -- no longer be any report or data that would be generated by EGD going to EGS, or received by EGS; is that fair? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  The reports that are specified in 1.4 and 1.5 would not go to EGS.  The reason I can't agree to your statement was there would be “no reports” going from EGD to EGS.  There may be some reports allowed for through the methodology that go to all counter-parties, that EGS may still receive from EGD.  So I just want to be careful in terms of the wording. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  And, just to qualify your qualification, in accordance with the methodology -- 

     MR. ROSS:  In accordance with the methodology. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  -- that would be at the same time and in the same manner it would be provided to all parties. 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, that's correct.   

     MS. DeMARCO:  That's fair.

     At 1.6 there are restrictions on EGS employees having utility functions, set out.  Do you agree? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, that's what’s set out within there.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  And none of those functions are now being performed by EGS.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  That's correct.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  And as a result, none of those restrictions are required of EGS? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  That's correct.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  And similarly, none -- are there any proposed or likely restrictions on EGD employees who will now be performing those functions? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  The only degree that we may have some limitations on the functions would be for segregation of duties, to ensure that appropriate controls are in place within the organization, but that would be the driver behind it.  Otherwise, there would be no limitations.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  And similarly, in 1.7, EGS is no longer required to produce an org chart for itself.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  That's correct, although I imagine we’ll have an org chart, and -- 

     MS. DeMARCO:  The same would apply to 1.8; is that correct? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  1.9 requires -- or required, shall I say, EGS to record all of its telephone conversations in relation to transactional services.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, it does.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  Will EGD be required to do that? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, we will continue to ensure that we have the audio recording of the transactions.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  And EGS, of course, won't be required to do that? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Not for any purpose related to the utility.  If they choose -- they may, for their own business, require themselves to do that, but that's outside of our control, or interest.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  And the associated retention period in 1.10, would that apply to EGD? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  I would expect us to look to maintain a similar-type retention period.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  And I assume that, in 1.11, EGD will not need to train its employees on the restricted use of utility information for only utility purposes; is that correct? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  We will still need to ensure that our employees are trained on the Affiliate Relationship Code and any other codes and rules that are in place, the same as we train our EGD employees today, so that, again, we ensure that we maintain compliance with all the applicable codes.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  As I understand 1.11, there were specific training requirements for employees engaged in the services.  Those are no longer required; is that fair? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  That's fair, although we would probably look to ensure that, if anything, we may have new training requirements just to ensure there is a clear understanding of the manner in which information is to be shared with any counter-parties, including EGS, so that they know -- so there’s a complete recognition of what the methodology dictates.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  And that would be distinct from the type of information-sharing that was set out in 1.12, which is EGD not providing any consumer or gas-vendor information to EGS.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  Correct, other than to the extent that they're acting as agent for that consumer, or that they're authorized under the Affiliate Relationship Code to receive that information.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  So the specific training and processes around those restrictions are no longer required; is that correct? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  I would agree.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  If I can ask you to turn to page 3, in terms of gas-supply planning, I don't intend to go through detail by detail here, but if I can just ask you to refer and take it, subject to check, that in 2.1, 2.2 and throughout this section, there are a number of requirements to produce reports.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, there are.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  And, given that EGD has repatriated all those functions, such reports will not -- and transfer of those reports to EGD will not be required; is that correct? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  That's correct.  They would be generated within EGD. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  And similarly, when there are requirements to hold or convene meetings between EGS and EGD, none of those actions will be required? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  That's correct.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  Similarly, when there is a requirement to consult with EGD, that's no longer required? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Well, we would consult internally, but -- there would be discussions within the organization, but in terms of between EGS and EGD, that would not be required.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  In terms of the gas-supply acquisition, similarly, if I can characterize with a broad brush, there are a number of reports and meetings and functions that relate to the interrelationship between EGD and EGS; would you agree? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  And again, there would be no continued relationship on those activities, between EGD and EGS.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  And those reports or meetings -- 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Would be done by EGD, and within EGD.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  So, in certain cases where a specific report for EGD was required to be produced, it would not -- no longer be required? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Other than if it was needed for internal management purposes.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  Turning to risk management on page 6 of 31, specifically section 4.2, would you agree with me that 4.2 requires trading personnel executing transactions to be segregated from trading personnel executing transactions on behalf of EGS? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  And in this case, following repatriation, the trading personnel would be EGD employees, so they would be segregated from EGS.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  So there is no internal requirement to segregate in EGD? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Potentially for segregation of duties, there may be.  We haven't looked that far yet, but again -- but they would be -- in this case, it was more of a segregated -- my -- the service agreement was to ensure that there was a separation between the trading that was being done for the service recipient under -- related to risk management, from any other trading that Enbridge Gas Services may have been doing -- so ensuring there was that segregation.  

     As we move this back internally, there may -- there’s not necessarily a requirement for the person doing the trading activities related to the risk management for EGD, as an EGD employee, to be segregated from the person doing trading activities for non-risk management activities for EGD, because it's all, you know, within the company. 

     MR. MILLAR:  Right.  So if I understand that correctly, EGS used to perform both regulated utility functions and competitive functions; is that correct? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Correct.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  And there were specific segregation requirements. 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, there was. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  Physical and otherwise? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  There was -- there was a separation.  In terms -- I wouldn't agree, necessarily, on the physical separation, other than it's not in the same -- within the current -- within the current operations of EGS, the requirement was that the -- that they were segregated, that there is no, say -- they're not sitting side-by-side.  But in terms of physical separation, as it's defined within the Affiliate Code, that wasn't in place for that -- for those personnel.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  Sorry, it wasn't in place or it wasn't required? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  We didn't view it as being required.  We ensured there was segregation of the duties, that you didn't have a sharing of information or awareness of the trading activities that was going on.  So we viewed that as being segregated.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  So as I understand it now, EGS is a purely competitive entity? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Following repatriation, correct.  And there will be physical -- complete physical separation of the EGD employees from the EGS employees.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  And physical separation or other separation requirements within EGD are not to separate utility and competitive functions?


MR. CHARLESON:  EGD doesn't have competitive functions.


MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you.  4.3, similarly, evaluation of the risk management manual and making recommendations to EGD, this function is no longer required?


MR. CHARLESON:  That's correct.  It would be done within EGD.


MS. DeMARCO:  And 4.10 on page 7 of 31?


MR. CHARLESON:  Again, I would expect from time to time our internal audit group may look to audit the activities of our ‑‑ of EGD, but it would be from an internal audit perspective.


MS. DeMARCO:  But there is no specific EGS requirement to perform audit -‑


MR. CHARLESON:  No.


MS. DeMARCO:  -- and ensure appropriate segregation

of --


MR. CHARLESON:  No, because EGS would not be a participant in this process.


MS. DeMARCO:  Looking now to all of the functions set out in section 5, which are contract management functions, as I understand it, all of these functions will now be performed by EGD?


MR. CHARLESON:  They will be performed by EGD or may be ‑‑ continue to be received from Enbridge Inc. as they're being performed today.  They're not being provided by Enbridge Gas Services.  They are being performed by Enbridge Inc. employees, and that may continue, as allowed for in the settlement agreement.


MS. DeMARCO:  So the specific provision for EGS to exercise EGD's rights and discharge its obligations is no longer required?


MR. CHARLESON:  It would not be done by EGS.  EGS would not be a party to any of that activity.


MS. DeMARCO:  And so the associated agency agreement to provide for that would not be required?


MR. CHARLESON:  Correct.


MS. DeMARCO:  In terms of a status update, when do we anticipate seeing those changes reflected?


MR. CHARLESON:  In terms of the full repatriation occurring?


MS. DeMARCO:  And in terms of the specific agreements between EGD and EGS.


MR. CHARLESON:  There will be no agreement between EGS once the repatriation occurs.  As identified in the settlement agreement, this would occur on or before January 1st, 2006.


We are currently moving towards putting the physical separation in place.  We expect that to occur probably mid November.  In terms of the actual repatriation of the employees, it probably will not occur until January 1st, more because of hats implications on the employees themselves and just for keeping it clean from a kind of income tax perspective.  


But, in effect, once the ‑‑ the physical separation, in my mind, affects a lot of what is ‑‑ is contemplated by the repatriation, and at that time the physical separation has occurred, in essence, they will be acting as EGD, and ‑‑ but that being said, any of the criteria and conditions of the agency agreement would remain, so that there is none of the sharing or any of those things happening.


MS. DeMARCO:  So will the agency agreement be terminated?


MR. CHARLESON:  I would expect the agency agreement to terminate on January 1, 2006, because until we physically ‑‑ until we change the employment relationship of the staff, we need the agency agreement.


MS. DeMARCO:  Moving on to section 6, which is specific to TS, and by way of background, Mr. Thompson referred to specific principles in relation to interruptible or curtailment of customers.  I believe that that is section 6.1 of the agreement.


Looking specifically at 6.4 and 6.5, there appear to be requirements for EGS to consult with EGD and operational services.


MR. CHARLESON:  Following repatriation, EGD would be consulting with operational services.  EGS would not be involved.


MS. DeMARCO:  Nor will EGS be consulted with?


MR. CHARLESON:  Correct.


MS. DeMARCO:  And, similarly, in 6.5, there is a requirement for EGS to develop individual proposals for transactional services?


MR. CHARLESON:  Again, all of the transactional services activities will be performed by EGD, and that includes all aspects of this section of the agreement.


MS. DeMARCO:  So is it fair to say, then, Mr. Charleson, that there are a number of TS and other functions and activities and reports that EGS was required to undertake that will no longer be required?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, there are some, some reports and some activities, that are required.  In terms of your characterization of there being a number of them, I can't quantify.  My expectation is a relatively small number that would no longer be required, as the majority of the reports that they were producing or working on were required for the purpose of decision-making within the company, and those decisions still have to be made.


MS. DeMARCO:  So exactly what services, if any, will EGS be performing for EGD in the test year?


MR. CHARLESON:  None.


MS. DeMARCO:  So as a result, I assume there will be no fees paid to EGS by EGD during the test year?


MR. CHARLESON:  Correct.  Unless we did an unwinding transaction with EGS as a counter-party, then we would have to pay them for the services they provided.  But in terms of an agency service or this type of agreement, no, there would not be any fees.


MS. DeMARCO:  And further to your update regarding repatriation, what state are we at right now, in terms of effecting the repatriation?


MR. CHARLESON:  As I indicated, we've identified the office space where the employees will be moving to for the purpose of physical separation.  We have spoken with all of the employees about the implications of changing payrolls.


We have -‑ we're in the process right now of hiring a manager of gas supply, as that position was vacant at the time of the repatriation, so I am in the process ‑‑ well, once I'm finished here, I will be in the process of interviewing for a new manager for that role.


We are starting to look at some of the elements related to the accounting functions for transactional services.  We haven't made a final determination, in terms of whether we address those functions within the Toronto office or whether we continue to look for corporate services to do it in Calgary.


We have started to look at the -- some of the segregation of data on the information systems perspective and initiated some work to have that begin.  So from a repatriation perspective, those are the activities that are going on.


MS. DeMARCO:  Can I ask you to turn to page 5 of 6 of what is now Exhibit K2.8?


MR. CHARLESON:  I have that.


MS. DeMARCO:  The second full paragraph there, starting with "Up to ..."


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.


MS. DeMARCO:  That paragraph indicates that:

"Up to and until repatriation of the services to EGD occurs and the TS methodology is fully implemented, EGS undertakes to follow the TS methodology to the maximum extent possible, and at a minimum the unsolicited bid thresholds applicable to EGS will be respected and all outgoing opportunities will be made available to the TS distribution list by way of e‑mail notice."


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, I'm aware of that.


MS. DeMARCO:  Can you indicate whether or not EGS has respected the bid thresholds to date, or the bid thresholds pertaining to EGS have been respected, more precisely?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, they have been.


MS. DeMARCO:  And can you confirm that all outgoing opportunities have been made available to the TS distribution list by way of e‑mail notice?


MR. CHARLESON:  They have not as yet.  We are in the process right now of compiling the TS distribution list.  We have gone to counter-parties to ask them to identify the parties that are to be on that distribution list, but we expect by beginning of September that we will be ensuring that that communication goes out.


MS. DeMARCO:  Do you have a date certain on that, Mr. Charleson?


MR. CHARLESON:  I don't have a date certain, but our expectation right now would be right after Labour Day.


MS. DeMARCO:  I would like to ask you a few questions about the sharing mechanism, specifically.  And as I understand the debate on the sharing mechanism for transactional services, there are two main and divergent positions, one which I will characterize as the intervenor position, which is a certain amount should be baked in.


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes I haven't heard any intervenor positions that differ from that, so I will have to assume that that ‑‑

     MS. DeMARCO:  And following that amount being baked in, a guaranteed percent of TS revenue should accrue to ratepayers.  Is that a fair characterization of that? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  That's the positions we've heard so far from intervenors. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  And as I understand your position, in very broad brush strokes, nothing should be baked in? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  That's correct.    

     MS. DeMARCO:  And the revenue that accrues to ratepayers and the shareholders should be 50 percent? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  There should be an equal sharing of the revenues.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  Can you confirm that, regardless of what sharing mechanism is implemented, EGD's actions and functions required under the new TS methodology will not change? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, that's correct.  The commitment to the methodology has been made and will be followed, regardless of the sharing mechanism.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  And I would like to ask you a few questions specifically about one of the features of the mechanism pertaining to ratepayer benefits.  

     Can I ask you to turn to the TS methodology.  And by way of apology, the second portion of the document, which contains the actual methodology, is not numbered.  So to get to the specific provision, I've had to count backwards from the end of the document, seven pages in, which should have a page that has number 2, 3 and 4 on it, where number 2 is “Establish a Floor Price." 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, I have that page.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  So, if I understand it correctly, as part of the new methodology, ratepayers are guaranteed a floor price for the transactional-service assets that Enbridge Gas Distribution sells? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Providing that parties are interested in contracting for that floor price, yes, they're guaranteed that floor price.  If nobody submits a bid above the floor, then they're not -- then there is no revenue generated.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  In the event where there would be no one submitting a bid for the floor, would Enbridge Gas Distribution set a new floor? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Potentially.  We would obviously have to look at what we felt was the reasons why the floor wasn't exceeded.  And then, if we determine that perhaps the floor was set too high, we would -- we may put it out again for bid.  Or if we just determined that the interest wasn't sufficient to generate the value that was in the best interest of ratepayers, we would hold on to it, and try again.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  And in each of those facets, it's Enbridge's discretion that is exercised -- in each of those elements, culminating in the determination of a floor price? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Well, in terms of -- the determination of the floor price is to be established by Enbridge Gas Distribution.  And it's done -- it's to be done based on understanding of market conditions and the market expertise within the gas-supply group.   Also, to the extent that bids don't come in that exceed the floor price, the bidding windows will have closed, and, in essence, you don't have the ability to put them out to auction again that same day.  You would have to wait for the next auction window to put them out for tender for that bidding again.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  So, in effect, your floor price needs to be reasonable -- 

     MR. CHARLESON:  That's right.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  -- in the context of market conditions? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  That's correct.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  And is it fair to say that that floor price will affect the amount of revenue that EGD will obtain from transactional-services sales? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, I think that’s fair to say.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  So, at least in small measure, Enbridge Gas Distribution can influence the revenue it obtains from transactional-service sales.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  Well, I guess it can prevent it from a fire sale on the assets.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  There's an element of influence by Enbridge Gas Distribution in setting that floor price.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, I guess, to the extent that we determine the floor price, we're influencing what the floor price is.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  And the revenue from TS? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Well, again, the -- well, yes, I would agree with that.  Because, if we don't set a floor price there's the potential that your revenues may be less, because everybody looks at it as an opportunity to acquire those assets at far below the value that's associated with those assets.  So it is a mechanism that, I think I indicated earlier today, was included within the methodology to try to assist in optimizing the value that is received for ratepayers.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you.

     I would like to now ask you a few clarification questions on your direct evidence.  I don't know that I was writing as fast as you were speaking, so I apologize if I mis-characterize anything in the first instance.  

     As part of your direct evidence, I understood you to have indicated that, in selling transactional services, Enbridge Gas Services would essentially make field calls to determine who is looking for what transactional-services assets.  Did I get that right? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  Based on their knowledge of what's going -- they're going to have an understanding of what's happening within the market.  They're going to be observing actions of different counter-parties.  And, based on that market knowledge, they will approach

counter-parties to determine if they're interested in a specific asset at a point in time.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  And I understood you to say that Enbridge Gas Services would essentially knock on a customer's door, and try and sell a transactional service asset; is that right? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  It would be a phone call, but you can use door-knocking as a kind of analogy.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  So broad brush again, under the original TS mechanism, essentially, EGS approached a customer, said Here’s what we've got to offer, and if that customer said, Sure, we'll take some, we'll take the same", then EGS and the customer would do a deal; is that a fair characterization? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Well, the other part that would have to factor into that conversation was the value or the price that that customer is willing to pay.  But, yes, if they approached that customer and the customer was willing to pay what EGS, as our agent, believed to be fair value for that asset, they would do the deal.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  And am I correct in understanding that now, instead of EGS knocking on doors, we have EGD entering into the information age and using a net-based auction platform; is that fair? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, that's fair.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  And so, now, EGD posts assets on a secure website? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Correct.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  And all market participants can see and access the info available? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  We viewed that as being a means of providing fair and non-discriminatory access. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  And so, notionally, instead of knocking on one door, a broader number of market participants would know that the asset was available; is that correct? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Assuming that they go and look at the website to see what's available.  It's not a push approach any more; it’s more of a market-pull approach.  You have to rely on the market going and looking for those assets.  But they have the ability to do that, it's just a matter of whether they will do that.  That's one of the unknowns. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  And the assets will be posted at the same time, same -- every day? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  There is defined windows when the assets are to be posted.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  So, notionally, anyone who is interested in a TS asset knows to log on and they can see precisely what’s available? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  They should have that -- they should have that knowledge, yes.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  And they can also see the floor price? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  That's correct.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  And, as part of that process, multiple parties can now bid at the same time? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, that's correct.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  And, in fact, each party can submit multiple bids; is that correct? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, that's correct.  Obviously, the risk they run is, if multiple -- if they submit multiple bids, they may have multiple bids accepted, and would have to take all of that capacity.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  So, notionally, would you agree that a larger number of buyers should now have access to any particular transactional-services asset? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  I would agree that, through this, there's greater transparency to the assets that are available, so there is the potential for a larger group of buyers to look for those assets.  

     Again, the big question we have is not knowing how they will respond or how they will act, and how they will bid on those assets 

     MS. DeMARCO:  Notionally, that could increase market activity in transactional services.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  I would agree.  And I think, in our evidence, we've indicated we don't know what the impact could be.  It could lead to -- it could lead to an increase in revenues.  It could lead to a reduction.  There is uncertainty.


MS. DeMARCO:  If I also got your statement in your direct evidence correctly, I understood you to indicate that as a part of your transactional services activities and responsibilities, you monitor market conditions.  Do I have that right?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  The people that are involved in administering our transactional services will be paying attention to what's happening within the market.  You have to do that to be able to establish a floor price.  You have to know, you know, what are the basis differentials.  What are the different opportunities that may exist between different points within the system?


So having an understanding and awareness of market conditions and being market savvy is a critical competency for the person that is performing those functions.


MS. DeMARCO:  And you're responsible for the oversight of those employees; is that correct?


MR. CHARLESON:  I will be, on repatriation, yes.


MS. DeMARCO:  Is it fair to say you have a decent assessment of those market conditions?


MR. CHARLESON:  That's why I'm hiring a manager of gas supply.  I will have within my group the skills that are needed.


MS. DeMARCO:  But do you personally have a sense of the basic market conditions?


MR. CHARLESON:  I would say of the basic market conditions, I have a sense.  But in terms of at the level to be able to determine what value should be able to be achieved for the assets of what -- you know, when is the right time to try to pose a deal, no, that is what I have ‑‑ that is what I have technical people for.


MS. DeMARCO:  Right.  Just on a basic and broad-brush sense, then, would you agree that in the last year there's a prevailing increase in gas costs?


MR. CHARLESON:  Definitely, and unfortunately.


MS. DeMARCO:  And with that increase, there is also a related increase in gas storage and transportation‑related activity?


MR. CHARLESON:  There would ‑‑ there would appear to be, but, again, for transportation activity, it's really driven more by differentials of prices at points, not so much the absolute price of gas, but more the differentials between different trading points at point in time.  And the absolute price won't necessarily change the level of activity that is occurring there. 


Similarly, for storage activity, it's going to depend on people's expectations of what's happening with prices at different points in time.  You know, when we see currently there's, you know, very high summer prices, I actually -- what we're seeing is it's leading to a reduction in storage activity that we would normally see over the summer, because people that are speculating in the market aren't looking to capture the, say, arbitrage opportunity between the summer price and the winter price by storing the gas.  They're looking more to say, Well, I'm better off to potentially move the gas through transportation, and I'll wait and pick the gas up in the winter, because the value isn't there for parking it for a period of time.


So I wouldn't necessarily agree that it has led to an increase in those activities.  It may change some of the -- what it does is changes some of the conditions that are underpinning the types of transactions that people are interested in doing.  And I think one of the comments that I made earlier this morning, you know, in 2005, we've seen value coming from transportation in the summer that we haven't seen in the past, and it's just because of the market conditions at the time.


Again, if you see prices swinging in different way or where the market is moving, it will change the opportunities that are out there.  It won't necessarily change the level of activity.


MS. DeMARCO:  As a broad-brush characterization, considering all of the TS services that you offer, storage, transportation, parks, loans, et cetera, would you agree that activity levels are fairly good in the Ontario market right now?


MR. CHARLESON:  I would say for this year, the activity levels have been fairly good, yes.  The market conditions have supported that activity.


MS. DeMARCO:  A question about Enbridge's direct evidence on gas costs, transportation and storage.  Particularly in relation to responses to TCPL, do I understand correctly that generally we're seeing a decrease in western‑based supply and transportation and storage services, and an increase in delivered Ontario‑based supply?


MR. SMALL:  We've certainly seen a reduction in TCPL tolls over the last five or six months, but that doesn't mean those reduction in tolls are going to last.  In fact, we have mentioned a couple of times that we're expecting the TCPL tolls to increase come the new year.


So the differential right now may favour western Canadian supplies moving through TransCanada, but that doesn't mean that necessarily that differential is going to last.


MS. DeMARCO:  Do I recall correctly that there was a trend analysis that was asked by TCPL ‑‑ I'm trying to think of the specific interrogatory right now, but in terms of the percentage increase and decrease of western‑based supply?


MR. SMALL:  There was an interrogatory response where we were asked to provide the supply breakdown by point.  It was ‑‑ I believe it was VECC Interrogatory I, tab 25, schedule 25, where we identified the western Canadian supplies as a percentage of our total overall system supply portfolio.


And I tried to allude to the fact that while, yes, there may look to be a reduction in the western Canadian supplies that we are buying, you have to recognize that part of that purchase forecast is predicated upon the direct purchase forecasts that we have.


So we're still seeing a significant amount of our supplies coming into our system from direct purchase customers using TransCanada.  What this schedule here is identifying is what we're actually forecasting we buy in western Canada and through Chicago.  


 MS. DeMARCO:  So it's safe to say, as a general proposition, there has been, based on the current picture, an increase in Ontario delivery and supply; is that right?


MR. CHARLESON:  No.  If you look at that exhibit, again, it's Exhibit I, tab 25, schedule 25.  If you look at the delivered supply line, which is the bottom line in each of the charts, what we see is there's been fluctuations in terms of the delivered supply, which is more, say, supply acquired within Ontario or near the market.  And if you look at 2003, delivered supply constituted about 19 percent of the portfolio.


In 2006, we're talking it being about 18 percent of the portfolio.  It's fluctuated around, but I wouldn't say that ‑‑ we're not seeing a steady increase.


I think in earlier discussions, what we indicated is, as we look at replacing, say, some of the ‑‑ or as we look at the expiry of the contracts that got a lot of discussion under the previous issue, one of the alternatives that we would consider is do you replace them with a delivered supply or with Ontario supply.  But it's just one of the alternatives that we factor into our decision-making.


MS. DeMARCO:  Certainly over a five- or ten-year time frame, would you agree that we've seen an increase in Ontario-delivered supply?


MR. SMALL:  Certainly in the last five years, we've certainly bought a considerable amount of gas at Dawn compared to seven, eight, nine, ten years ago.  Dawn has just become a lot more liquid market, so there is a lot more available supplies at Dawn.


MS. DeMARCO:  So since the early days of transactional services, we've seen an increase in Ontario-delivered supply?


MR. SMALL:  That, coupled additional pipelines coming into Vector-Alliance, for example. 


MS. DeMARCO:  So associated with that increase in Ontario-delivered supply activity, presumably there would be an increased need for related transactional services?


MR. SMALL:  The difficulty there, though, would be a number of the factors that Mr. Charleson alluded to.  Each year is going to have its own unique market conditions, and trying to anticipate what is going to happen from one year to the next is very difficult.


MS. DeMARCO:  I take your point in relation to forecasting, but, just as a general proposition, the more Ontario activity we have, the more related transactional services activity we have; is that fair?


MR. CHARLESON:  I would say the potential for that is there, but then you also have to factor in, with the increased activity, you also have customers looking to manage their supplies in different ways.  As we look towards a trend on unbundled rates and desire for unbundling of rates and services, where customers are now looking to take more control of some of those assets, it may also reduce the ‑‑ it may ‑‑ there may be an increase in activity within Ontario, but it may reduce the volume of the assets that the utility actually is controlling to do transactional services activities.


If you get into an unbundled storage rate, where now there is an allocation of storage capacity to an unbundled customer, it -- that storage is no longer available or the storage available for transactional services performed by the utility is reduced.  So I think I would agree that as liquidity at Dawn is increased, the potential for transacting and the potential for the market conditions to be there for transacting has increased, but with increased opportunities also becomes an increase in other market participants looking to seize those opportunities and to obtain, say, the assets so that they can make their own decisions.


MR. SMALL:  An increase in the number of transactions that you're going to do doesn't necessarily translate into increased revenues.  There could be a lot more transactions being done for smaller and smaller amounts.


MS. DeMARCO:  In terms of customers wanting to take control of their own activities or own portfolios, would you agree that one such option would be to purchase transactional services from the company?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, I would agree, but to the extent they're operating on a bundled rate, the needs aren't really the same, because the company is managing a lot of those activities and they're providing supply on, basically, on a fairly flat basis throughout the year.  So it limits some of those opportunities.  It's as you move to the unbundled rates, and then you know, customers are likely going to be looking for the opportunities for them to capture as much of the value for themselves.


MS. DeMARCO:  And I understood your original comments to be in the context of those unbundled rates; is that fair?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.


MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you.  One last question, and on time for a change.


In addition to the questions I've clarified from your direct evidence, I understood you to indicate that, further to the new option process for TS, EGD will need to ‑ and did I get this right ‑ ensure awareness and interest on behalf of parties in transactional services?


MR. CHARLESON:  That may not be the exact wording that I used, but I think the concept that you've indicated is correct.


What I was talking about is while we can't conduct, say, the outbound unsolicited opportunities, to go back to a phrase that I discussed with Mr. Thompson, if we're looking to try to ensure that we gain the value and that we have interest from market participants, there is a need to make sure that different counter-parties, that market participants are aware of the types of assets that become available, and are aware of the auction process, and are aware that they can approach us, as well, regarding assets that we may have available.


So I think that is what I ‑‑ the comments that I was making there was more, say, a general promotion of our transactional services functions, so that there is a market awareness that, if you're looking for certain assets, consider us.


MS. DeMARCO:  Specifically what actions are you contemplating to undertake in order to promote this general awareness?


MR. CHARLESON:  We haven't really worked through things that far, but at the initial ‑‑ kind of at the initial discussions we've been having, it's more, when we're approached by counter-parties for certain types of assets, trying to ensure that they understand the auction process and what's available there.


There may be e‑mail communications that we would send to the TS distribution list.  If there's other counter-parties that we see coming into the market, making sure they're aware of the ‑‑ of transactional services that exist and that -- you know, that we're a counter-party that has assets available at times, but I can't be any more specific than that.

But it would definitely -- it would be very general statements regarding the awareness that wouldn't be, Well, if you're looking for some storage tomorrow, give me a call.


 MS. DeMARCO:  Can you show me where each of those actions would fall within the context of the Board‑approved transactional services methodology?


MR. CHARLESON:  I don't believe it's contemplated within that methodology.  The methodology defines the manner in which the transactional services ‑‑ the assets are to be made available, the manner in which unsolicited opportunities are to be conducted and the company will comply fully with that methodology.


We also believe it is in the best interests of ratepayers to ensure that the market is aware of the methodology, aware of the manner in which they can acquire assets from Enbridge, and we would look to be doing that on a consistent basis within the market.


MS. DeMARCO:  Within the context of the provisions of the methodology that require all communications to go out equally to all parties involved in the TS distribution list?


MR. CHARLESON:  To the extent that we believe the communications fell within the provisions of the agreement, we would ensure we're complying with that.


MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Ms. DeMarco.  Again, Ms. DeMarco, on behalf of all your clients, those questions were --


MS. DeMARCO:  I apologize, and I promised Mr. Battista that I would indicate that in advance.  This was on behalf of the Advocates.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Before we adjourn for the day, maybe we can clarify the schedule for tomorrow, in any case, and perhaps Thursday, as well.  Tomorrow we will reconvene at 1 o'clock in the afternoon.  I understand, Mr. O'Leary, that will be the EnVision panel?


MR. O'LEARY:  That's correct, Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  Can you give us any sense of how long you think that panel will take?


MR. O'LEARY:  Based upon discussions that have been had with some of the intervenors, we believe we're looking at a day, perhaps a day and a bit.


MS. NOWINA:  So it would be tomorrow afternoon, perhaps Thursday morning.  Thursday afternoon we might return to this panel?  Would that be your expectation?


MR. O'LEARY:  There is a possibility, and I believe this panel is ‑‑ and we are ready to proceed on Thursday afternoon, if need be.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Mr. Shepherd and Mr. Dingwall, I think you wanted to cross-examine this panel.  Can you give us an indication of how long you think that will take?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, we're going to be 20 or 30 minutes.  I'm wondering whether there is any reason why this panel can't proceed tomorrow at 1:00.  If EnVision simply has to finish by the end of the day Tuesday, I think we don't have a problem with that, and I would be happier, subject obviously to the Board's wishes, if we could complete this panel and our cross could follow along after my friends.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Dingwall, the 20 to 30 minutes for the two of you is your expectation?


MR. DINGWALL:  That's my expectation.  I don't expect to exceed 20 minutes.  And, as always, there is the potential that after a review of the transcript, it may be less than that.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, I may have some questions, as well, although I wouldn't anticipate being more than 10 minutes or 15 minutes, depending on what my friends cover.


MS. NOWINA:  Let's be conservative and say it might take an hour with the examination.  Mr. O'Leary, what do you think about that?


MR. O'LEARY:  We're in your hands, Madam Chair.  If the estimates of intervenors and Board counsel are that, we would be pleased to complete this panel before moving into EnVision.


MS. NOWINA:  That seems logical.  Why don't we plan to do that, then?  We will reconvene tomorrow afternoon at 1:00, and we will continue and complete this panel.  Are there any other final matters before we adjourn?  All right, we will adjourn, then, until tomorrow at 1:00 p.m.

‑‑‑ Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:00 p.m.
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